From the Department of Medicine, Respiratory Medicine Unit Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

MECHANISMS OF INFLAMMATORY SIGNALLING IN CHRONIC LUNG DISEASES:

Transcriptomics & metabolomics approaches

Bettina Levänen



Stockholm 2012

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Larserics Digital Print AB

© Bettina Levänen, 2012 ISBN 978-91-7457-781-5

Till mamma & pappa

ABSTRACT

Sarcoidosis, asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) are inflammatory pulmonary diseases with many different clinical phenotypes. A central characteristic of all three diseases is the altered airway function due to inflammation. In sarcoidosis this is believed to be caused by a yet unidentified substance(s), in COPD largely by exposure to inhaled toxicants, e.g. smoking and in asthma due to an excessive reaction to an often harmless environmental substance. Long-term inflammation may cause tissue damage and in some cases irreversible destruction and remodelling. The current absence of a cure for these diseases points out a need to define the pathologic mechanisms in order to personalise treatment.

In this dissertation we investigated the above mentioned diseases using global screening methods in combination with validation techniques. We investigated intracellular wingless/integrated (WNT)-signalling in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) and epithelial cells in sarcoidosis. Oxylipin–levels were measured in BAL fluid of asthmatics. And global screening for miRNA and mRNA expression in pulmonary inflammatory cells in COPD, as well as miRNA in extracellular exosomes from both asthmatics and COPD patients, were performed.

WNTs are lipoglycoproteins, important in several cellular functions such as proliferation and differentiation, which by binding to membrane receptors starts an intrecellular signalling cascade involving β -catenin. The results revealed clear differences in WNT expression levels in sarcoidosis patients, suggesting a role for the molecules in the development of fibrosis. Oxylipins are lipids synthesised on demand from omega-3 and omega-6 unsaturated fatty acids and involved in various inflammatory processes. Differing oxylipin levels in BAL fluids of mild asthmatics were detected in response to subway air exposure, indicating a decreased protective response to noxious stimuli in individuals with lowered lung function. Exosomes are nanosised vesicles, created in the multivesicular endosomes in various cells, believed to be involved in the extracellular transport of molecules. MikroRNA (miRNA), shown to be present in exosomes, are small RNAs capable of affecting translation of proteins through the regulation of mRNA. Expression of miRNAs in both cells and exosomes and geneexpression in the BAL cells were significantly different between smoking COPD patients and healthy smokers. These combined results clearly indicates global changes in different signalling cascades and pathways, requiring global analysis of expression on multiple levels in order to elucidate mechanistic differences between the diseases.

The projects included in this dissertation are part of larger studies. In further studies we aim to integrate the results from several platforms; transcriptomics, proteomics and metabolomics with complex analysis methods in order to elucidate the similarities, and more importantly, the differences between these pulmonary diseases. By doing this we will acquire a better understanding of the pathological reasons and further our understanding of these inflammatory pulmonary diseases. This may ultimately lead to earlier and more specific diagnostic tools, and to the development of better and more personal treatment options for the patients.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I. Levänen B, Wheelock ÅM, Eklund A, Grunewald J, Nord M Increased Pulmonary Wnt (wingless/Integrated)-signaling in patients with Sarcoidosis. Respiratory Medicine (2011) 105, 282-291.
- II. Lundström SL*, Levänen B*, Nording M, Klepczynska-Nyström A, Sköld MC, Haeggström JZ, Grunewald J, Svartengren M, Hammock BD, Larsson B-M, Eklund A, Wheelock CE, Wheelock ÅM Asthmatics exhibit altered oxylipin profiles compared to healthy individuals after subway air exposure. PLoS One. 2011;6(8):e23864. *These authors contributed equally.
- III. Levänen B, Bhakta N, Torregrosa-Paredes P, Barbeau R, Hiltbrunner S, Pollack JL, Sköld CM, Svartengren M, Grunewald J, Gabrielsson S, Eklund A, Larsson B-M, Woodruff P, Erle DJ, Wheelock ÅM. Differences in exosomal microRNAs in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from asthmatics and healthy individuals. *Manuscript*.
- IV. Levänen B, Cansu Z, Pollack JL, Grunewald J, Karimi R, Eklund A, Gabrielsson S, Erle DJ, Sköld CM, Wheelock ÅM Differential expression of exosomal and cellular miRNA in healthy neversmokers, healthy smokers and COPD patients. *Manuscript*.

CONTENTS

1	Introduction1			
	1.1	The re	spiratory system	2
		1.1.1	Pulmonary function measurements	2
	1.2	Cells t	ypes of the lung	4
		1.2.1	The Basement membrane	4
		1.2.2	Airway epithelium	4
		1.2.3	Inflammatory cells	6
	1.3	Cellula	ar signalling	8
		1.3.1	WNT	8
		1.3.2	Oxylipins	10
		1.3.3	RNA	11
		1.3.4	Exosomes	12
	1.4	Inflam	matory pulmonary diseases	13
		1.4.1	Sarcoidosis	14
		1.4.2	Asthma	15
		1.4.3	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	17
	1.5	Enviro	onmental factors	
		1.5.1	Subway air	
		1.5.2	Cigarette smoke	21
2	Stud	y subjec	cts & sample collection	
	2.1	Patien	t data	
		2.1.1	Paper I	
		2.1.2	Papers II & III	
		2.1.3	Paper IV	23
	2.2	Sampl	es	24
		2.2.1	BAL cells	24
		2.2.2	BAL fluid	24
		2.2.3	Bronchial brush biopsies	24
		2.2.4	Exosomes	25
	2.3	Subwa	ay air exposure	25
3	Com	ments o	on methodology	
	3.1	Sampl	e preparations	
		3.1.1	Exosome ultracentrifugation	
		3.1.2	RNA extractions	
	3.2	Experi	imental methods	27
		3.2.1	EMSA	27
		3.2.2	Cytocentrifugation	27
		3.2.3	Immunocytochemistry	27
		3.2.4	Microarrays	
		3.2.5	PCR	
		3.2.6	FACS	
	3.3	Statist	ical methods	
		3.3.1	Univariate analysis	
		3.3.2	Multivariate analysis	
4	Aim	s	-	

5	Results & discussion		
	5.1	WNT signalling in sarcoidosis	
	5.2	Altered oxylipin profiles in asthmatics	41
	5.3	Exosomal miRNAs in asthma and COPD	
	5.4	miRNA and mRNA expression in BAL cells in COPD	
6	Cone	cluding remarks	
7	Future perspectives		
8	Sammanfattning		
9	Tiivistelmä		
10	Acknowledgements		
11	References		

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AA	Arachidonic acid
AEC	Airway epithelial cells
Ago	Argonaute
AHR	Airway hyperresponsiveness
Ahr	Arylhydrocarbon receptor
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
BAL	Bronchoalveolar Lavage
BALF	BAL fluid
BHL	Bilateral hilar lympadenopathy
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CCL	CC chemokine ligand
CCSP	Clara cell secretory protein
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CHI3L1	Chitinase-3 like-1
CK1	Casein kinase 1
CLDN1	Claudin-1
СО	Carbon monoxide
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
COPDxS	COPD ex-smokers
Cox-2	Cyclooxygenase 2
СТ	Computer tomography
CV	Coefficient of Variance
CV-ANOVA	Cross-validated ANOVA
DAB	3,3'-diaminobenzidine
DAPI	4´,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole, dihydrochloride
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSH	Dishevelled
dsRNA	Double stranded RNA
EMSA	Electrophoretic mobility shift assay
EMT	Epithelial mesenchymal transition
ERV	Expiratory reserve volume
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting
FDR	False discovery rate
FEV_1	Forced expiratory Volume in 1 second
Fra-1	Fos-related antigen 1
FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
FZD	Frizzled receptor
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 β
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HETE	Hydroxyl eicosatetraenoic acid
IC	Inspiratory capacity

ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1, CD54
IFN-γ	Interferon γ
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IPF	Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis
IRV	Inspiratory reserve volume
LA	Linoleic acid
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry
LEF	Leukocyte enhancing factor
LFA	Lymphocyte function-associated protein 1
LOD	Limit of detection
Log	Logarithmic
LOQ	Limit of quantification
LOX	Lipoxygenase
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRP	Lipoprotein related protein
LTB_4	Leukotriene B ₄
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
miRNA	microRNA
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MVA	Multivariate Analysis
MVE	Multivesicular endosome
MΦs	Macrophages
NF-κB	Nuclear factor K B
NNMT	Nicotinamide N-methyltransferase
NO	Nitric oxide
NO_2	Nitrogen dioxide
NSAID	Non-specific anti-inflammatory drug
O ₃	Ozone
OPLS	Orthogonal projections to latent structures
PAH	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCA	Principal component analysis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PEF	Peak expiratory flow
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PGE ₂	Prostaglandin E ₂
PM	Particulate matter
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PRR	Pattern recognition receptors
Q^2	Seven fold cross-validation predictive value
qRT-PCR	Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction
\mathbf{R}^2	Cumulative correlation coefficient
RHOU	Ras homolog family member U
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid

ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
RV	Residual volume
SOX9	Sex determining region Y-box 9
SP	Surfactant protein
SPP1	Secreted phosphoprotein 1, osteopontin
SUS-plot	Shared and unique structures plot
TCF	T-cell factor
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
TIMP	Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases
TLC	Total lung capacity
TLR	Toll like receptors
Tm	Annealing (melting) temperature
TNFα	Tumour necrosis factor α
tRNA	Transfer RNA
TV	Tidal volume
UV	Ultraviolet
VC	Vital Capacity
VEGFA	Vascular endothelial factor A
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial factor receptor
VIP	Variable importance in the projection
WISP	WNT1 inducible signalling pathway protein 1
WNT	Wingless/Integrated
XDR	Extended dynamic range

1 INTRODUCTION

Chronic inflammatory lung diseases are an increasing global health problem [4]. In Europe, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) currently causes the most lost work days among all respiratory illnesses [5]. In the Global Burden of Disease study, the World Health Organization (WHO) predicts that the prevalence of chronic lung disease is going to increase significantly over the next decade, and become an even more prominent cause of morbidity and disability worldwide [4]. Also the prevalence of asthma is growing globally, in particular in urban areas where polluted air is a main trigger of asthmatic exacerbations [6]. Sarcoidosis, however, is not as common a disease, with approximately 2000 new cases in Sweden yearly. The majority of patients recover, but some develop chronic disease with fibrosis and eventually respiratory failure, resulting in a mortality rate of $\sim 5\%$.

In the studies described here, we investigated three chronic inflammatory lung diseases, with some common features but also distinct differences. We approached this question by combining methods screening for differences at a wider scale with more traditional techniques, investigating molecules or proteins of interest. All of these factors can aid us in our search for disease-specific differences to be used in early diagnosis and individualised treatment, and thus improved management of inflammatory pulmonary disease, ultimately finding biomarkers to be used at the clinic. Biomarkers are biomolecule representatives for biological processes and can be used to indirectly measure or determine different temporal stages in a disease process. Several biomarkers have been suggested for the use in inflammatory lung disease, but so far only few have proved useful in clinical practice [6, 7].



Figure 1. A schematic picture demonstrating the conducting airways from the primary bronchi to the distal alveoli.

1.1 THE RESPIRATORY SYSTEM

The respiratory system is a collective word for the anatomical system that is composed, in the order from proximal to distal, of the nasal cavities and the mouth, the trachea, bronchi, bronchioles, alveolar ducts, alveolar sacs and the alveoli (Figure 1). The main function of the respiratory system is to supply the body with oxygen and remove carbon dioxide from the tissues.

The nasal cavities play an important role as a primary barrier against particulates entering through the air, metabolising inhaled airborne particles and for humidification of the breathed air. The human lungs consist of two lobes on the left side and three lobes on the right side. The bronchioles divide, after entering the parenchyma, accordingly with three branches to the right and two to the left, one into each lobe. The main function of the alveolar cells is to provide gas exchange between the inspired air and the blood in the pulmonary circulation, which occurs in the most distal alveoli [8].

The lung is a complex organ which consists of more than 40 different cell phenotypes, organised in a complex structure which facilitates gas exchange as well as protection against the surrounding environment.



1.1.1 Pulmonary function measurements

Figure 2. . Spirometry measurements demonstrating the normal tracings compared to ones from a patient with obstructive and restrictive pulmonary disease.

Pulmonary function measurements are an important indicator whether something is wrong with the function of the lungs. Spirometry is used to measure lung volume and function in order to determine whether the individual being measured has obstruction or restriction in their lung function. Obstructive lung disorders such as COPD are characterised by a reduced passage of air. The FEV₁/FVC ratio is reduced due to high airway resistance. Patients with restrictive disorders, such as fibrosis and sarcoidosis,

are prevented to expand their lungs due to an increased amount of respiratory tissue scarring, with a resulting reduction in TLC (Figure 2).

Peak expiratory flow (PEF) refers to the maximum expiratory flow rate and can be measured by a handheld flow meter. Levels are lower in patients with constricted lungs. Normal values are dependent on the patients' height, age and gender.



Figure 3. An illustration showing the lung volumes. TLC = total lung capacity, VC = vital capacity, IC = inspiratory capacity, TV = tidal volume, ERV = expiratory reserve volume, IRV = inspiratory reserve volume, RV = residual volume.

Forced vital capacity (FVC) measures how much air you can exhale with force after inhaling as deeply as possible. It is a combination of tidal volume (TV), expiratory reserve volume (ERV) and inspiratory reserve volume (IRV) (Figure 3).

Forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁) is the amount of air being exhaled at the end of the first second of expiration. Values between 80-120% of predicted normal values are considered healthy. FEV₁/FVC is often reported as a percentage (FEV₁%). This is reduced in obstructive diseases such asthma, COPD, emphysema and chronic bronchitis.

Residual volume (RV) is the air left in the airways after maximum exhalation. The residual volume increases quite remarkably in COPD.

Total lung capacity (TLC) is the entire volume of the lungs, including RV.

Tidal volume (TV) is the volume inspired or expired in one normal breath.

1.2 CELLS TYPES OF THE LUNG

The large bronchi contain irregularly shaped cartilaginous plates, which are absent in the smaller bronchi. The epithelium of the airways contains several types of cell and the combination of these changes along the airway. Beneath the epithelium lies the basement membrane, mostly consisting of collagen fibers and the submucosa. Beneath the basement membrane of the airway is a layer of smooth muscle. In addition, several types of inflammatory cells are present in the lungs at various stages. All of these cells are important in creating the necessary microenvironment to maintain these complex structures, and culturing of primary cells from the lung results in rapid dedifferentiation of the cells. This makes the use of cell lines problematic in respiratory research.

1.2.1 The Basement membrane

The basement membrane, on top of which the epithelium is anchored, serves several important roles in the lung. It acts as a barrier between the underlying mesenchymal compartment and the surface epithelial cells, facilitates migration and regulates the phenotype of epithelial cells. It consists of collagen; type IV collagen and V laminin present in the upper layers are secreted by the epithelial cells, type III and V collagen and fibronectin synthesised by subepithelial fibroblasts [9].

1.2.2 Airway epithelium

The airway epithelium is the first barrier for airborne pollutants such as particulate matter, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and oxidants present in cigarette smoke. In addition to the barrier function the epithelium serves a secretory function, producing a wide array of lipid mediators, chemokines, cytokines and growth factors [10-12]. Pulmonary surfactants which are composed of lipoproteins and formed by alveolar type II cells, maintains alveolar integrity, aiding pulmonary compliance (capability to expand) and plays a role in host defence. The epithelium is also an important source of arachidonic acid (AA) metabolites and ezymes such as cyclooxygenase (COX) and lipoxygenase (LOX), which are involved in mucus secretion, inflammation and smooth muscle tone [13]. Under normal conditions the airway epithelium has a capacity of regeneration and repair [14, 15]. However, during exposure and other foreign stimuli an imbalance can be created starting a disease process, which the normal system is unable to control.

There are several types of epithelial cells and the composition of the airway wall epithelium changes from the proximal to distal airway. These cells are of three main types; basal cells, ciliated and secretory cells (Figure 4). The cell types in the proximal airways are mainly ciliated columnar and mucus secreting goblet cells. The bronchioles lack cartilage and glands, have thinner walls and the epithelium here mainly consists of ciliated columnar epithelium, only a few goblet cells are present [16]. The terminal bronchioles mainly consist of ciliated cuboidal cells and Clara cells. Clara cells play an important role in exposure to cigarette smoke, as the PAHs mainly target these cells. Sampling of epithelial cells from the distal airways is a very specific technique, using fiberoptic bronchoscopy combined with fluoroscopic guidance, unfortunately not available at our clinic at the time of sample collection [17]. The epithelium in the

alveoli consists of two types of pneumocytes, Type I cells primarily being responsible for gas exchange, and Type II cells producing surfactant. The type I pneumocytes are the more common ones, making up two-thirds of the alveolar epithelial cells and covering up to 90% of the surface.

Basal cells

Basal cells are ubiquitous in the large conducting airways and there is a direct correlation between the thickness of the epithelium and the number of these cells. These cells are attached to the basement membrane and play a role in the adhesion of the columnar epithelium to the same [18]. Basal cells serve as stem cells giving rise to ciliated and mucous epithelial cells [19].



Figure 4. Illustration showing the typical cells of the bronchial, bronchiolar and alveolar epithelium.

Ciliated cells

Ciliated cells are the main type of epithelial cell in the lung and account for about half of the total number of cells. These cells are covered with up to 300 cilia/cell used to transport mucus from the lung towards the throat.

Secretory cells

Clara cells typically extend from the basement membrane to the airway lumen, have a granule filled apical bulge and are present in both the bronchial and bronchiolar airways. They are the main secretory cells of the distal airways. Clara cells produce granules of surfactants, such as Clara cell secretory protein (CCSP), which cover the surface of the bronchial epithelium. Clara cells also have a high metabolic capacity, and metabolise a range of xenobiotic compounds that enter the lung through inhalation, such as tobacco smoke [20]. In the absence of basal cells, like in the smaller airways, Clara cells are able to re-differentiate into other cell types, giving rise to other types of epithelial cells [21].

Goblet cells are characterised by secretion of mucin rich granules creating mucus for trapping foreign objects in the airways. The goblet cell appearance varies from the classical goblet shape to tall columnar cells and they have a basal nucleus [22].

Normally the mucus protects the airways, maintaining hydration and trapping particles viruses and bacteria, as well as contributing important anti-inflammatory properties. The mucosal amount can be affected by exposure to noxious stimuli such as cigarette smoke and it is common with mucous cell hyperplasia and metaplasia, with the associated hypermucosis and productive cough, in inflammatory pulmonary diseases such as COPD [22]. The composition and consistency of the mucus also changes in COPD becoming more viscous due to alterations on chloride channels and destruction of cilia.

Clara cells are capable of secreting mucins and surfactant protein (SP)-D. The arylhydrocarbon receptor (Ahr), a ligand activated transcription factor highly expressed in epithelial cells, has been implicated to mediate the effects of toxins entering the lung through the archidonic acid cascade and mucin production [23, 24]. COX-2 levels have been shown to increase upon Ahr activation [25]. The eicosanoid prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂), derived from COX-2, can activate mucin production in the airway [26].

1.2.3 Inflammatory cells

In addition to the structural cells of the lungs, a number of other cell types, such as inflammatory cells, migrate to and reside in the epithelium. Some of these continue to migrate out into the lumen. The immune system is a collection of organs, cells and tissue, working in a tightly regulated manner to fight foreign pathogens. The immune system is further divided into the innate (non-specific) immunity and the adaptive (specific) immunity [27].

The innate immunity

The innate immunity is the first line of defence against foreign pathogens. Danger signals, such as pathogen derived molecules are recognised by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). The best known PRRs are toll-like receptors (TLRs). When ligands, such as bacteria derived DNA, lipids or double stranded RNA (dsRNA), are bound to these receptors it leads to an intracellular cascade involving the activation of the transcription factor nuclear factor κB (NF- κB). NF- κB then translocates to the nucleus where it initiates transcription of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α [28].

Neutrophils are involved in the initial response to pathogens and phagocytise foreign material. They are attracted by the cytokines IL-1 β and IL-8, as well as the lipid mediator leukotriene B₄ (LTB₄). Neutrophils kill the pathogens using their intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) or by releasing granules containing enzymes that act in the extracellular space [29]. The levels of neutrophils are elevated in both smokers and COPD patients and a recent study shows increased levels of migration of neutrophils in smokers [30].

Eosinophils are attracted to the site of inflammation by the cytokines IL-3, IL-5 and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), as well as LTB₄, chemokine ligand (CCL) 5 and eotaxins. Their granules contain histamine and eosinophilic peroxidase and they produce the cytokines IL-4, IL-5, IL-6 and IL-13 steering the response toward a Th2 type. Therefore an increased number can be detected in asthma and allergies.

The least common granulocyte is the basophils and normally there are very low amounts in human peripheral blood. Basophils contain the anticoagulant heparin and the vasodilator histamine, allowing better blood flow through the infected tissue.

Mast cells, involved in the early allergic response, contain histamine, prostaglandin and leukotriene filled granules which are able to induce mucus secretion and bronchoconstriction [31]. Mast cells recruit other cells to the site of infection through indirect and direct methods through a number of cytokines and chemokines; (TNF- α , LTB₄, IL-8, CCL2) and are involved in activating the innate immunity through IL-10, TNF- α , transforming growth factor (TGF)- β and histamine [32-34]. Mast cells are present in the airway epithelium in asthma and can be activated through TLRs by viral products [31, 35].

Alveolar macrophages are derived from the blood monocytes and are present in the alveolar lumen. They are activated by Th1 cells, as well as through TLRs, and their main function is to phagocytise foreign material from the body. By releasing chemokines such as IL-8, they also recruit other inflammatory cells to the site of infection, and by production of interferon (IFN)- γ they induce cluster of sifferentiation (CD)8⁺ responses and a Th1-type immunity [36]. After phagocytosis macrophages are capable of presenting antigens to T-cells via their major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules.

Adaptive immunity

The adaptive immune system is the secondary line of defence against pathogens. Among the cell types involved are T- and B-lymphocytes, both with surface receptors with high specificity. Each organism has its own unique set of immunologic memory and hence a specific combination of cells. When a cell encounters and recognises an antigen during e.g. an infection it leads to a clonal expansion of that specific cell to increase the number in order to fight the infectious agent. One subset of the cells will become activated, another will become memory cells with a faster reaction to the same antigen upon a second encounter.

T-lymhocytes are developed in the bone marrow before maturing in the thymus and entering the blood stream and the lymphoid organs. There are two main types of T-cells, depending on their cell surface co-receptors; CD4⁺ T-helper cells and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T-cells. Antigens are presented to T-cells by antigen-presenting cells through MHC class I to CD8⁺ cells and through MHC class II to CD4⁺ cells [37].

CD4⁺ T-helper cells are further differentiated into Th1 and Th2 types depending on what antigen they encounter and this differentiation is regulated by cytokines. IL-12 promotes differentiation into the Th1 type, and the absence of IL-12 leads to

differentiation into the Th2 type. IL-4 actively drives the differentiation towards the Th2 development [38]. Th1 cells mainly release IFN- γ , while Th2 cells mainly produce IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13.

 $CD8^+$ cytotoxic T-cells are involved in the protection of the host from bacteria and virus by the induction of apoptosis and is the predominant T cell type in COPD [39]. The numbers are positively correlated to the degree of emphysema and tissue destruction [40]. $CD8^+$ T cells release proteolytic enzymes called perform and granzymes that can cause cell death and necrosis through which they might be involved in the tissue destruction in COPD [39, 41].

Antigen producing B-cells are responsible for the humoral immune response. The production of IgE antibodies by B-cells requires production of IL-4 and IL-13 from activated T-cells.

1.3 CELLULAR SIGNALLING

Cellular signalling is a complex system governing the events in the organism. It can be regarded as communication within and between cells. Through this signalling the cells are capable of reacting to signals from their environment and respond by creating the correct response for each type of stimuli. There are several types of which I will discuss a selected few; intracellular wingless/integrated (WNT) signalling, investigated in paper I in respect to the disease process in sarcoidosis; Oxylipins, shown to play a major role in signalling in the immune and nervous system; RNAs which are essential for protein synthesis, and in particular miRNAs which are capable of regulating this process; and finally the small vesicles called exosomes, believed to be able to transport signals between cells.

1.3.1 WNT

WNT signalling plays an important regulatory role in both development of the lung and normal lung homeostasis in the adult lung. It is believed to be involved in disease processes when fine tuning of repair functions have gone astray, with the persistent activation of proliferation leading to fibrosis and tissue destruction. A role for WNT signalling in different cancers, including lung cancers, is well established and a role in other lung diseases have been suggested [42, 43].

WNTs are highly conserved lipoglycoproteins expressed in a tightly regulated spatiotemporal manner. To date, 19 WNT proteins have been identified in humans. These assign their effects through three different signalling cascades involving WNTs; the most conserved and well-characterised canonical WNT/ β -catenin pathway, the WNT/CA²⁺ pathway signalling through calmodulin kinase II and protein kinase C, and finally the WNT/JNK pathway which signals through small GTPases [44]. In paper I we have focused on WNT/ β -catenin signalling in Sarcoidosis, and this pathway will be the main focus.

Without a WNT ligand β -catenin is bound to a destruction complex containing the proteins AXIN and adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), which continually phosphorylates the β -catenin molecule. This process requires casein kinase I (CK1) and

glycogen synthase kinase (GSK)-3 β . The phosphorylated β -catenin is thereafter ubiquitinated and degraded by proteosomes.

Binding of a WNT ligand to the frizzeld (FZD) and lipoprotein related protein (LRP) receptors on the cell surface activates a cascade where β -catenin, normally residing in the cytosol, is released from the degradation complex (Figure 5). This cascade contains the protein Dishevelled (DSH), which recruits the destruction complex of AXIN and APC to the plasma membrane and away from β -catenin. This step inhibits GSK-3 β and reduces the degradation of β -catenin, allowing it to translocate to the nucleus [45].

In the nucleus β -catenin forms a complex with its DNA-binding partners known as lymphocyte enhancer factor (LEF)/T-cell factor (TCF) [46]. This complex then bind to promoters and activate target genes involved in proliferation and differentiation, such as *MMP2*, *MMP7*, *MMP9*, *VEGFA*, *CLDN1*, *CCND1*, *SOX9*, *RHOU*, *COX-2* and *WISP* [47-55].



Figure 5. WNT/ β -catenin signalling. We hypothesised that WNT ligands secreted from inflammatory cells in the proximity act on cell surface FZD receptors on epithelial cells to start the signalling cascade that will activate β -catenin. β -catenin translocates to the nucleus where it binds to the TCF/LEF transcription factor complex and starts the transcription of target genes.

The most well-known profibrotic cytokine TGF- β is known to cross-talk with the WNT/ β -catenin pathway. These pathways can promote each other's activation and in some cases even co-regulate the same gene through TCF and Smad binding sites within the same promoter [56-60]. WNT signal activation in cell cultures with fibroblasts stimulates the cells to enhanced proliferation, migration and matrix production [61]. The initial reports of the involvement of β -catenin in fibrotic disease was the discovery of mutations of β -catenin and its negative regulator APC [62]. And the role for β -

catenin in wound healing was demonstrated by studies in mice [63]. It is today a well accepted fact that repetitive injury and repair processes of the alveolar epithelium, with an additional local inflammation, is a central pathogenic mechanism of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) [64]. Furthermore, there is an additional impairment of the epithelial- mesenchymal crosstalk contributing to the pathology of IPF [65]. These and other studies supported the hypothesis that WNT/ β -catenin signalling is involved in the fibroproliferative part of wound healing, as well as a role in the imbalance leading to disorders with fibrosis.

In this thesis we have mainly focused on the above described canonical WNT/ β -catenin pathway. Although this pathway occurs in all tissues, the genes activated are cell-type and context specific. Targets of WNT/ β -catenin should therefore be investigated in individual cell types and disease states to understand the contribution of this pathway in the pathogenesis.

Potential candidates for modulating the WNT/ β -catenin pathway include siRNAs, antibodies against WNTs, inhibitors of GSK-3 β , activators of LRP, or blocking agents of TCF/ β -catenin interactions.

The canonical WNT β -catenin pathway is down-regulated in the airway epithelium of both healthy smokers and smokers with COPD [66]. And it has been shown that activation of β -catenin attenuates the experimental emphysema in mice [67]. Abnormal regulation of the WNT pathway in the epithelium has been reported in smokers [66].

1.3.2 Oxylipins

Cyclooxygenase (COX), lipoxygenase (LOX) and cytochrome P450 are the main enzymes involved in oxylipin biosynthesis in human airway epithelium [13]. There are four families of eicosanoids; the prostaglandins, prostacyclins, tromboxanes and leukotrienes. They derive from either omega-3 or omega-6 and their function depending on the essential fatty acid origin. Omega-6 is more pro-inflammatory, but both are affected by non-specific anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and aspirin through down-regulation of synthesis.

Mast cells metabolise arachidonic acid through the LOX and COX pathways and release the products leukotriene B_4 (LTB₄), prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) and leukotrienes such as LTC₄ [68]. PGE₂ is produced in the airway epithelium, with inhibitory effects on airway smooth muscle and mucus secretion, and is therefore described as a bronchoprotective mediator [69-72]. The complex role of PGE₂ in the airways is, however, demonstrated by its opposing role of promoting a Th-2 bias through IL-12 deficient dendritic cells [73]. The enzymes COX and LOX, as well as the products 5-hydroxy eicosatetraenoic acid (HETE), 15-HETE and 12-HETE, are present in abundance in the airway epithelium [74, 75]. Previous studies have demonstrated increased amounts of 15-HETE in the epithelium of asthmatics and patients with chronic bronchitis [76]. Interestingly, COX-2 has been shown to be a target gene of WNT signalling in mice, demonstrating the complexity of these signalling pathways with multiple levels of regulation [53, 54].

1.3.3 RNA

A series of events, called gene expression, is required for the production of specific proteins or functional RNAs. Regulation of gene expression plays a crucial role in ensuring that the correct proteins are being translated. Regulatory events of such kind have cell- and tissue-specific expression patterns. There are various types of RNAs, all with specific roles and sizes. The information encoded in a gene is used to produce a specific protein through messenger RNA (mRNA). Ribosomal RNA (rRNA) forms the basic machinery on which the protein synthesis takes place. Transfer RNA (tRNA) functions as adapter RNAs, translating the information in the mRNAs into sequences of aminoacids to produce the protein. microRNAs (miRNA) are involved in post-transciptional regulation of mRNA. All of these RNA transcripts combined constitute the trancriptome of a cell, which can be analysed using microarray based methods.

mRNA

Messenger RNA (mRNA) is a hard copy of the DNA that is being transcribed. Transcription describes a series of enzymatic processes that result in the transfer of information from the double-stranded DNA to the single-stranded mRNA, which will then be used as a template for protein translation. mRNAs are relatively unstable and easily degraded as it is only needed for a brief moment for the above described translation. Protein synthesis is local and extremely important for the regulation of gene expression.

microRNA

An ubiquitous class of RNA, microRNAs (miRNA) are relatively recently identified short (20-23 nt) endogenous, single-stranded nucleotides, derived from longer precursors called pre-miRNAs (Figure 6) [77, 78].

The main function of miRNAs is to regulate gene expression and protein translation, and thus represent an important link between proteomic and transcriptomics/mRNA data. The miRNAs are relatively stable, more so than mRNA, and are known to add to mRNA degradation levels and also affect the protein levels by dampening the translation of mRNAs [79].

Though previously this was thought to be their only regulatory effect, it has recently been discussed whether miRNAs can additionally have an up-regulatory effect on the mRNA [80]. The miRNAs are therefore a fundamental post-transcriptional layer that allows fine tuning of the regulation of gene expression. Abnormal expression patterns of miRNAs have been implicated in pulmonary fibrosis, COPD and asthma [81-84].

Two ribonuclease-III (RNAse III) enzymes, called drosha and dicer, process the mature miRNA in a step-wise manner from one arm of the precursor hairpin structure. The other strand, called the passenger strand, previously marked miRNA* and more recently named 3p, has been thought to be degraded. However, recent findings suggest that the miRNA-3p might have a functional and active contributive role in regulation [85, 86].



Figure 6. A simplified illustration of miRNA synthesis and method of action. miRNAs are transcribed from genes as pri-miRNAs, whereafter they are processed by two enzymes called Drosha and Dicer. Exportin 5 is involved in the transport of the pri-miRNA from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. Then the processed miRNA duplex is cleaved by a complex of RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) and argonaute (Ago) 1-4 into two strands. These single-stranded miRNAs are capable of regulating mRNA and protein translation.

The nomenclatures of miRNAs changes as their function are elucidated. There is more to read from the name of a miRNA (example hsa-miR21a); hsa indicating it is a human miRNA, as opposed to mouse (mmu), rat (rno), schimpanzee (ptr) and so on. The number indicates the order of which they were discovered, 21 being an early discovery. Let-7, however, was one of the first miRNAs to be discovered and was therefore named prior to this system. The letter in 21a suggests that there are several closely related miRNAs. There are two mature products of hsa-miR-21a, miR-21a-5p and miR-21a-3p, which was previously labelled miR-21a*, as discussed previously.

1.3.4 Exosomes

Exosomes are nanosized (30-100nm) membrane vesicles of endosomal origin, secreted from several different celltypes; epithelial cells, mast cells, B-cells, dendritic cells, T cells, macrophages and neurons [87-96]. The exosomal protein composition and the functions appear to differ depending on from what type of cell they originate [97]. They can function in antigen delivery, tolerance induction, T-cell activation and inhibition [95]. Exosomes can contain multiple signals, both within themselves and as surface receptors. Recent research has shown that exosomes can contain functional RNA molecules including mRNA and miRNAs, which can be shuttled from one cell to another, affecting the recipient cell's protein translation (Figure 7) [98-100]. The exosomes can consequently serve as vehicles by which a cell can communicate with another by delivering RNA between them and are found in physiological fluids from which they can be extracted. Previous analyses have been done on exosomes from breast milk, saliva, blood, serum, nasal secretions, urine and BALF [101-107].

Previous studies have been conducted examining exosomes in sarcoidosis and asthma [96, 107-109]. At the time of writing no publications could be found on exosomes in COPD.

Chairoungdua et al. showed that WNT-signalling is down-regulated through the tetraspanin CD82 and CD9 control of exosomal β -catenin levels, suggesting an effect of exosomes on intracellular signalling [110].



Figure 7. Size comparison of exosomes to microvesicles, apoptotic bodies, virus, bacteria, platelets and cells. Exosomes are created by invagination into multivesicular endosomes (MVE) before being released into the extracellular space. Exosomes can contain miRNA. *The image has been created with adjustments from [1, 2].*

These vesicular exosomes are not to be confused with the described exosomes involved in RNA processing.

1.4 INFLAMMATORY PULMONARY DISEASES

This dissertation includes studies of three inflammatory pulmonary diseases; sarcoidosis, asthma and COPD. Common features of these three diseases are that the causative mechanism for the disease process is mainly unknown, and that they are characterised by an ongoing inflammation in the lung leading to structural changes and remodelling. However, the disease processes are all different, as is the pathology and immune response. These are all largely heterogenous diseases with variation in the clinical manifestations, as well as in the disease outcome and treatment. In order to personalise treatment there is a pressing need to investigate and define the pathologic mechanisms in all three conditions more closely. Currently there is no cure to any of the discussed diseases and they are generally managed by oral glucocorticoids (GC) and/or bronchodilators as maintenance.

1.4.1 Sarcoidosis

Sarcoidosis is a multisystemic inflammatory disease, characterised by non-caseating granulomas in various organs, commonly affecting the lungs. As opposed to other inflammatory lung diseases, such as COPD, bronchiolitis and emphysema, sarcoidosis primarily affects non-smokers [111]. Sarcoidosis has an unknown aetiology, but is believed to be promoted by an abnormal immune response to one or a few specific, but as yet unknown, environmental antigen(s). Patients display a typical accumulation in their lungs of activated T helper (CD4⁺) cells, and a CD4/CD8 ratio in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid over 3.5 is considered a diagnostic indicator for sarcoidosis [112]. These lung-accumulated, activated CD4⁺ T cells have a Th1 cytokine profile, characterized by release of IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-2 [113, 114].

Stage	Finding
0	Normal chest radiograph
Ι	Bilateral hilar lympadenopathy (BHL)
II	BHL and pulmonary infiltrations
III	Pulmonary infiltrations (no BHL)
IV	Pulmonary fibrosis

 Table 1. Chest radiographic stages in pulmonary sarcoidosis.

Chest radiographs are used, in combination with the above mentioned CD4/CD8 ratio, for diagnosis of sarcoidosis. Pulmonary involvement, enlarged lymphnodes, fibrosis and parenchymal infiltrates can be found on the chest radiographs and the disease can be divided into stages depending on the appearance of these (Table 1, Figure 8).



Figure 8. Sarcoidosis.

Genetic variability, especially in the form of DNA polymorphism, has been reported for specific phenotypes among patients with sarcoidosis [115-117]. One sub-group of sarcoidosis patients have Löfgren's syndrome, defined by an acute disease onset combined with fever and specific symptoms such as erythema nodosum, ankle arthritis and bilateral hilar lymphadenopathy [118]. These patients usually have a good prognosis and a relatively quickly resolving disease. Patients with a chronic disease course are referred to as non-Löfgrens patients.

It has been suggested that genetically susceptible individuals are more likely to develop sarcoidosis when exposed to some sort of infection or antigen. The exact pathogenic mechanisms have however not been resolved, and interestingly, recent microarrays on lung tissue and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) revealed differentially expressed miRNAs in sarcoidosis patients with possible roles in the disease process [119].

1.4.2 Asthma

Asthma is a complex inflammatory pulmonary disease affecting all ages and races. Currently an estimated 300 million people are affected worldwide, with the mean prevalence of clinical asthma of 4.9% in the Scandinavian and Baltic countries (Finland, Sweden, Denmark, Norway, Estonia, Iceland, Latvia, Lithuania and Poland) [120]. In year 2001 it was estimated as the 25th leading cause of disability [120]. Asthma mortality varies largely between countries, depending much on recognition of the disease, availability of drugs and treatment.

There are many phenotypes of asthma, for example allergic (atopic) asthma and nonallergic asthma. Allergic asthma is characterised by a Th2-dominated inflammation. Both phenotypes show signs of bronchial hyper-reactivity and a reversible obstruction of airflow. Common symptoms are wheezing, shortness of breath, chest tightness and cough. The cause of asthma is not fully understood, but is believed to be caused by a combination of environmental and genetic factors. The airway inflammation in asthma is primarily localised to the proximal airways, but occasionally extend to the distal lung and parenchyma (Figure 9) [16].

Currently there is no exact clinical or laboratorial test for diagnosing asthma. Asthma is diagnosed by a combination of methods and observation of symptoms. Spirometry is used to measure airflow limitation; an increase in FEV₁ of <12% and 200 ml after administration of a bronchodilator is a sign of reversible airflow limitation in accordance to asthma. Peak expiratory flow (PEF) measurements are used to follow an individual's fluctuations of measurements. Ideally the reference point will be the patient's own previous measurements. A diurnal variation of >20% and an improvement of >20% post-bronchodilator inhalation, compared to the prebronchodilator measurement, indicate asthma.

Mild intermittent asthma

Symptoms are not severe and breathing problems rarely occur. The patient manages asthma attacks with inhalers. $FEV_1 > 80\%$.

Mild persistent asthma

As with mild intermittent asthma the symptoms are very mild and the patient can manage the disease by self-medicating as needed. $FEV_1 > 80\%$.

Moderate persistent asthma

Moderate asthmatics have daily symptoms and a FEV $_1$ 60 - 80%. Daily use of β 2-agonists are often required.

Severe persistent asthma

Severe asthmatics suffer from continuous symptoms, limited physical activity and a FEV $_1 < 60\%$.



Figure 9. Asthma.

Airway hyper-responsiveness (AHR) is one central feature of asthma and can be tested by metacholine or histamine exposure, which causes a dose-dependent drop in FEV_1 values in asthmatics. Other factors, such as dry and cold air, cigarette smoke and strong smells can also cause hyper-responsiveness in asthmatics, but the mechanism is different from the metacholine exposure. Metaholine and histamine act on smooth muscle receptors, while the other stimuli mainly activate the immune system [121].

Nitric oxide (NO) concentration in the breath of asthmatics is generally elevated. This could however also be affected by what the patient has eaten recently. Skin test allergen and serum IgE measurements indicate allergies and increase the probability of an asthma diagnosis. Atopic (allergic) asthmatics are a subgroup with hypersensitivity to allergens, with abnormally high levels of the IgE antibody (for review, see [122]). The allergens, such as pollen, animal fur and house dust mite, trigger the inflammation and airway obstruction in these individuals. Other environmental irritants, such as ozone (O_3) , perfume and cigarette smoke can also function as triggers.

Local accumulation of eosinophils and mast cells can be observed depending on the sub-type of the disease. Th2 cytokines; IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10 and IL-13 levels are

high, leading to an inflammation and further narrowing of the airways. There is a wide spectrum in the severity of asthma, depending on exacerbation frequency. In asthmatics cytokines derived from epithelial cells, such as IL-25 and IL-33, play a role in orchestrating the eosinophilic airway inflammation [122].

WNTs appear to be involved, through β -catenin, in regulatory functions by preventing overproduction of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 in lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induced responses [123].

1.4.3 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Although the underlying causes of asthma and COPD are both inflammatory in origin, the aetiology and progression of the diseases are distinctly different (for review, see [124]). COPD primarily involves the peripheral bronchioles and the lung parenchyma, whereas asthma mainly affects the larger conducting airways. COPD is currently the 12th leading cause of disability worldwide [120]. The slowly progressive airflow limitation in COPD leads to disability and premature death, while the variable airflow limitation in asthma rarely progresses in severity.

A common feature in COPD is chronic bronchitis, a sputum-producing cough due to mucus hyper-secretion and inflammation. Symptoms often bother the patients for very long periods of time and is defined chronic after a total of three months in two consecutive years [125]. Chronic bronchitis is observed in both patients and smokers with normal lung function.



Figure 10. Alveoli in healthy and COPD lungs. The image displays the enlarged alveoli and mucus production in COPD patients.

Bronchiolitis, a constant inflammation of the bronchioles, leads to narrowing of the airways and is the main cause of obstruction [126]. Obstruction of peripheral airways due to inflammatory cell infiltration and fibrosis together with inflammatory exudates in the lumen (bronchiolitis) correlates best with the severity of the airflow obstruction in COPD [126].

Emphysema is characterised by the destruction of alveolar parenchyma and loss of alveolar septa, and can be explained as a permanent enlargement of the alveolar airspaces, due to destruction of the walls (Figure 10). This leads to a smaller total area of the alveolar epithelium, a reduced gas exchange and an elevated RV.

Infiltration of macrophages and T lymphocytes (mainly CD8⁺) is characteristic for COPD, with an increased number of neutrophils prevalent in patients with severe disease and during exacerbations [124]. Exacerbations are acute periods of worsening of the patient's condition, often due to an infection or exposure to some environmental factor [127, 128]. COPD patients are more predisposed to infections due to the alterations of the tight junctions in the epithelium, allowing pathogens to enter the tissue more easily [129].

The number of macrophages are markedly increased (5-25 fold) in most lung compartments of COPD patients, and macrophages appear to play a central role in the pathology of COPD [130]. Airway epithelial cells are likely to play a role in the recruitment and differentiation of macrophages through the release of chemoattractants and other mediators specifically acting on macrophages. Airway epithelium changes, including altered ion channel regulation resulting in increased secretion and viscosity of mucins and defective tight junctions, stress the importance of such alterations in the pathogenesis of COPD [131].

COPD is diagnosed using spirometry to gain lung function measurements. A postbronchodilator measurement ratio of FEV₁/FVC below 0.7 is required for COPD diagnosis. Besides smoking cessation, no efficacious treatments currently exist to prevent the progression of COPD. The severity of COPD is divided into four stages according to the Global Initiative for Obstructive Lung disease (GOLD); mild (I), moderate (II), severe (III) and very severe (IV) [132].

Stage I: Mild COPD

At stage one the patient is usually unaware of the disease and their decline in lung function. There may be mild airflow limitation, as well as some symptoms like cough or excessive mucus production. FEV₁ values are equal to or greater than 80% of the predicted normal values and FEV₁/FVC l < 70% [132].

Stage II: Moderate COPD

In moderate disease the airflow limitation worsens and more symptoms appear, such as cough, shortness of breath and sputum production. FEV₁ values are between 50-80% of the predictive normal values and FEV₁/FVC < 70% [132].

Stage III: Severe COPD

At stage III the symptoms are more prominent, with a more evident shortness of breath, higher degree of airflow limitation and recurrent exacerbations. FEV_1 is between 30-49% and $FEV_1/FVC < 70\%$ [132].

Stage IV: Very severe COPD

At the last GOLD stage the quality of life has decreased significantly with more severe symptoms. The exacerbations at this stage may be life threatening. FEV₁ levels are 30-50% and FEV₁/FVC < 70% [132].

Asthma and early stage COPD may have many symptomatic similarities, and traditionally the two diseases have been differentiated by whether or not the airway obstruction can be reversed by β 2-agonists. However, this criterion is becoming more and more outdated as sub-categories of COPD with some reversibility are becoming evident [133]. This further underlines the need for better diagnostic tools.

1.5 ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

Environmental air pollution is potentially harmful factors in the air, such as chemicals, particulate matter (PM) and biological material such as allergens and pathogens. These can be of the solid, liquid or gaseous phases. The lung epithelium is a relatively large surface regularly in contact with the environment and a possible means of entry for these harmful agents.

Recent development of increased allergies and vulnerability to normally harmless environmental allergens supports the so called hygiene hypothesis [134]. This hypothesis suggests that, as levels of living standards increase, there is a decreased exposure to pathogenic and non-pathogenic micro-organisms. These micro-organisms usually promote the development of a normal immune response and an appropriate control of the same is refined. However, when the exposures to such infections decrease, the reactions to otherwise harmless environmental allergens increase. At the same time the levels of exposure increase due to more intense energy consumption and larger industrial sources. The human pulmonary system is exposed to, not only larger quantities, but also a more diverse mixture of pollution than before.

The most abundant pollutants are PM, O_3 and nitrogen dioxide (NO₂). PM is composed of a complex mixture of solids and/or liquids varying in size, number and chemical composition depending on the source. O_3 is a constituent of smog and is generated in a reaction between NO₂, hydrocarbons and UV-light. The main source for PM and NO₂ is combustion of fossil fuels, including traffic.

Exacerbations of airway disease can be caused by numerous factors such as allergen exposure, drugs, viral infections, changes in the weather and environmental pollution [135]. Several studies have been conducted to investigate the effects of traffic pollution on inflammatory pulmonary diseases such as asthma and COPD. Greater reductions of FEV₁ and FVC could be detected in mild to moderate asthmatics spending two hours walking on a heavily trafficked street in London compared to a walk in Hyde park [136]. Gehring et al. showed that traffic related air pollution caused an increased development of asthma and allergies early in life [137]. Andersen et al. showed in two studies that long-term exposure to traffic-related air pollution may contribute to the development of COPD and increase hospitalisation in asthmatics [138, 139].

All three above discussed diseases appear to be affected by external factors such as air pollution, allergens and antigens. Exacerbations in COPD and asthma can be caused by infections entering through the lung. In three of the publications, Paper II, III and IV, we investigated the effects of two different air pollutions; subway air and cigarette smoke.

1.5.1 Subway air

In many large cities, the subway system represents a major form of transportation for numerous individuals, yet few studies have focused on the health effects of this environment.

The pathogenesis of asthma in urban areas is affected by multiple factors including PM and oxidizing agents such as O_3 and nitric oxides present in polluted air. There are other oxidizing agents, the ones mentioned here are the main ones present in

photochemical smog and are often regulated and used as a general measure of the level of air pollution. In terms of PM, the health effects most studied to date are related to road emissions in urban areas, which have been demonstrated to play an important role in asthma morbidity.

Road traffic exhaust has previously been shown to affect the lung function, such as FEV_1 and FVC in asthmatics and in healthy individuals [136, 140]. Subway exposures have, however, not shown these results. A study investigating particles collected in the London underground showed effects on A549 cell lines [141]. A study investigating the effect of subway air on employees working both at the level of the platform and above at the entry level, could not detect any short-term effects of the exposure on the respiratory system [142]. Klepczynska Nyström et. al.detected elevated expression of the T cell activation marker CD69 on both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ cells after subway exposure [143, 144]. One thing in common with these exposure studies is that they mainly investigated the effects on respiratory function, measured by spirometry, as well as cell differentials and some FACS analyses, and did not examine effects on smaller molecules with a potentially pathological outcome.

Subway air is a significant source of PM emission with physiochemical properties that differ drastically from that of road emission. Road emission PM is largely composed of PAHs, whereas subway PM generally contains more iron oxides. Given the potential for large-scale chronic exposure to subway air, and the cumulative risk for sensitive populations with compromised respiratory systems such as asthmatics, it is important to examine the effects of this system in greater detail. This study examined responses of the respiratory system to Stockholm subway air in mild intermittent asthmatics and healthy individuals (Papers II and III).

1.5.2 Cigarette smoke

Smoking is a common way of exposure of the lung to noxious stimuli. Cigarette smoke consists of $1 \times 10^9 - 5 \times 10^9$ different toxic particles per ml [145]. The particle diameter size in tobacco smoke varies from 0.16 to 1.1 µm, with similar sizes observed in different tobacco types [146]. Generally PM₁ reaches distal lung, and nanoparticles reach out in the blood stream to some extent, while PM₁₀ mainly reach the proximal lung, or even get stuck in the nasal epithelium. The use of filters on cigarettes reduces the particle size slightly. Considering that the smaller particle sizes are able to cross the membranes and cross out into the bloodstream, thereby affecting the entire body this may not be a very desirable effect. Cigarettes contain for example large numbers of free radicals, certain ions, PAHs, nicotine, alkenes, acids, alcohols and esters just to name a few [145]. The exact effects of these compounds on the innate and adaptive immunity are largely unknown, but are believed to increase the inflammatory response and allergic reactions in the lungs [147].

Cigarette smoke leads to an influx of macrophages into the alveolar lumen, engulfing smoke particles and secreting matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) involved in tissue destruction.

While smoking might have a protective effect on sarcoidosis, it is the main cause of COPD [148].

2 STUDY SUBJECTS & SAMPLE COLLECTION

2.1 PATIENT DATA

2.1.1 Paper I

A total of 48 sarcoidosis patients were recruited for this study when referred to the Division of Respiratory Medicine (Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden) for initial diagnostic investigation. All patients had clinical features of sarcoidosis evaluated by chest radiography, symptoms and pulmonary function tests. The patients were not on corticosteroid treatment during the study. Eighteen non-smoking healthy control individuals, with normal lung function, were included in the study as controls.

The BAL recovery % was significantly lower and cell concentration was significantly higher in sarcoidosis patients. 12 out of 48 of the sarcoidosis patients had Löfgren's syndrome and 10 out of 48 were smokers. Pulmonary function tests revealed the expected differences, with lower VC%, FVC% and FEV₁ in sarcoidosis patients (more details on the data can be found in paper I, table 1). The study was approved by the local ethics committee at Karolinska Institutet (Case number: 2005/1031-31/2).

2.1.2 Papers II & III

The patient samples collected for papers II and III were part of a larger study and more detail can be found in previous publications [143, 144]. 18 healthy non-smoking volunteers and 15 intermittent asthmatics participated in the study described in paper II. A sub-group of these patients, 10 healthy and 10 asthmatics, participated in the study described in paper III.

Both populations underwent the same exposure regimen to both subway air and ambient office control environment in a randomised order, with a minimum of three weeks between. All individuals were non-smokers, non-habitual subway commuters (refraining from subway use altogether for 2 months prior to the study), had normal chest radiography, were not on corticosterioid or anti-inflammatory drug treatment and had no airway infections within 6 weeks of the study. β 2-agonist use was allowed on demand.

Screening for the presence of specific immunoglobulin (Ig) E antibodies against common inhaled allergens (Phadiatop; Pharmacia-Upjohn, Uppsala, Sweden) showed that 89% of the healthy volunteers had no IgE antibodies (n=16), whereas 87% (n=13) of the asthmatics had IgE antibodies. The asthmatics also had a positive reaction to a number of the radioallergosorbents (RAST, Pharmacia-Upjohn). The study was performed out of pollen season.

All volunteers had a normal baseline FEV₁. Hyper-responsiveness in asthmatics was tested by increasing doses of metacholine, defined as $\geq 20\%$ fall in FEV₁ at an accumulated inhalation dose of < 894 µg.

Lung samples were collected through bronchoscopy, described in more detail below.

All volunteers participating in the study gave their informed written consent, and the study was approved by the Stockholm Regional Ethical Board (Case numbers 2006/643-31/4 and 2007/748-31/3).

2.1.3 Paper IV

The samples were collected as part of a larger study called the COSMIC study performed at the Karolinska University Hospital encompassing a total of 120 individuals; 40 COPD patients (later divided into a subgroup of ex-smokers), 40 healthy current smokers and 40 healthy never smokers with equal numbers of each gender. The COPD group of ex-smokers were defined as individuals who had refrained from smoking for at least 2 years prior to the inclusion in the study. All subjects were matched in terms of age (45-65 years) and gender (20/20 per group). In addition, COPD and healthy smokers were matched in terms of smoking history (>10 pack years, >10 cigarettes/day the past 6 months). The use of inhaled or oral corticosteroids was not allowed and subjects had no exacerbations for the last 3 months before the study. In order to avoid acute effects of smoking on inflammatory parameters, smokers were asked to refrain from smoking 8 hrs prior to bronchoscopy, which was assessed by exhaled carbon monoxide (CO) monitoring prior to sampling as previously described [149].

The final number of patients included in the study is described in more detail in Table 1 in Paper IV. Clearly degraded RNA samples and arrays with obvious experimental problems, such as scratches or uneven hybridisation were removed from further analysis. To ensure that the investigated samples were as homogenous as possible in regards to cell composition an additional exclusion was added. Samples with a macrophage percent composition of < 85% were excluded (n = 5) to assure sufficient enrichment of the target cell population (i.e. alveolar macrophages). A final set of strict exclusion criteria specifically designed for the transcriptomics analyses were applied in order to reduce the heterogeneity of the groups and thereby increase the statistical power of the study. Low recovery of BAL fluid may result in a more proximal sampling of the bronchoalveolar tree, resulting in a different BAL cell or exosomal population. As such, subjects with a recovery < 34% were excluded (n = 3) [150].

All individuals underwent a thorough clinical examination with chest radiography, computed tomography (CT), and spirometry. The healthy never and current smokers had a fully normal lung function. COPD patients had mild to moderate disease (GOLD stage I-II, FEV₁=50-100% and FEV₁/FVC < 0.7). Lung function parameters from the spirometry were calculated as post-bronchodilator percent of predicted using the European Community of Coal and Steel (ECCS) normal values [151]. All subjects also completed an additional questionnaire on previous occupational exposure, menopause, hormone replacement therapy and/or other drugs, dyspnoea, fatigue, emotional function and occurrence of productive cough.

The study was approved by the local Stockholm Regional Ethical Board (Case number 2006/959-31/1, 2007-743-32, 2008/600-32, 2010/1064-32), and all volunteers gave their informed written consent.

2.2 SAMPLES

Bronchoscopy is a technique of visually investigating the insides of the lungs, while the patient is lightly sedated. During this procedure various samples, such as cells and biopsies, can be collected and it is used for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), performed during bronchoscopy, is a way of investigating inflammatory pulmonary diseases. The bronchoscope, a flexible fiberoptic tube is wedged into a middle-lobe bronchus and aliquots of phosphate buffered saline (PBS) are instilled into the lung and gently aspirated. Through BAL, inflammatory cells and airway exudates are collected from the distal lung, on which we then perform a range of analyses to characterise the patient. BAL samples from healthy individuals mainly contain macrophages and a small percentage of lymphocytes. The cell differentials can be drastically different depending on which inflammatory pulmonary disease the patient is suffering from, some of the changes being quite characteristic. Also the composition of the BAL fluid, i.e. the soluble fraction remaining after the inflammatory cells have been removed from the BAL, differs drastically in terms of the composition of inflammatory mediators depending on the inflammatory state of the lung. In addition to components from the epithelial lining fluid, the BAL fluid also contains a range of protein-, peptide-, lipid and nucleic acid mediators that can be used to characterise the nature of an inflammatory response or disease.

2.2.1 BAL cells

The cells obtained in the BAL are a mixture of inflammatory cells such as macrophages, lymphocytes, neutrophils and basophils. The composition of the BAL cells mainly depends on the disease state and whether or not there is an ongoing infection. The BAL fluid CD4/CD8 T cell ratio, which is elevated in sarcoidosis patients, is used for the clinical diagnosis of sarcoidosis. Asthmatics have increased eosinophil counts. Smokers have normally a larger concentration of cells than healthy individuals, with a large amount of macrophages and normally also increased numbers of neutrophils.

2.2.2 BAL fluid

After the cells are removed by centrifugation the BAL fluid remains. This fluid contains soluble factors and smaller vesicles, such as oxylipins and exosomes respectively, which are too light to have been pelleted by the low speed centrifugation performed for removing the cells.

2.2.3 Bronchial brush biopsies

Bronchial brush biopsies are collected during the bronchoscopy by brushing the airway epithelial lining with stereological brushes which are inserted through the work canal of the bronchoscope. One brush collects approximately 1 x 10^6 cells and the cell composition of these are mainly epithelial cells (90-95%), the majority being ciliated cells, with some observed differences in smokers who have increased neutrophil cell counts. The composition of the brush biopsies is mostly due to a very proximal sampling location. As demonstrated in Figure 4 the composition of cells changes along the airways.
2.2.4 Exosomes

Exosomes are present in the BALF and can be isolated through ultracentrifugation (discussed in more detail below). The strength in using BAL exosomes in the search of biomarkers is that it is less complex than serum and/or blood biomarkers. BAL samples also contribute greatly to knowledge of local immuno-inflammatory responses in both normal and disease conditions. We aim to investigate both the proteome and miRNAs present in exosomes and their role in the disease process. There are not as many miRNAs as proteins and, as mentioned above, a single miRNA may affect the translation of proteins from several genes.

2.3 SUBWAY AIR EXPOSURE

All individuals in paper II and III were exposed to both subway air and ambient office air, in a randomised order with a minimum interval of 3 weeks. The study was carried out outside of pollen season (mid-October to mid-March). The subjects were not habitual commuters and were further encouraged to refrain from using the subway during the study, avoid areas with high pollution and limit the amount of exercise at the day of exposure to the minimum.

The subway air exposures were conducted during rush hour (4-6pm) at near platform level at a central subway station in Stockholm (Odenplan). The air in the room where the subway exposure took place had a corresponding quality to the air at the platform. Breathing was controlled by allowing the subjects use an exercise bicycle in 15 min interval with a resistance of 20 L/min/m² body surface. This was to ensure that they would adapt mouth breathing and take deeper breaths. Control exposures were performed during a corresponding amount of time in a normal office environment with ambient clean air.

The PM levels were monitored during each exposure session. Sampling of $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} were measured, meaning an upper cut-off of 2.5 and 10 µm respectively, with Harvard impactors (Air Diagnostics and Engineering Inc, Harrison, ME, USA) with telflon filters that were weighed after the session [143]. The measurements after these sessions in the subway were 77±10 and 242±40 µg·m⁻³ for $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} respectively [143]. In comparison, in a road tunnel study perfomed under the same conditions and with the same equipment these levels were 64 (46–81) µg·m⁻³ and 176 (130–206) µg·m⁻³ [140].

All bronchoscopies and sample collections were performed 14 h after the 2 h exposure. These time points were chosen to enable comparison with a previous study investigating inflammatory effects after exposure to road tunnel pollution [140].

3 COMMENTS ON METHODOLOGY

3.1 SAMPLE PREPARATIONS

3.1.1 Exosome ultracentrifugation

In order to isolate exosomes from BALF we applied a series of centrifugations; first 3000 x g for 30 minutes in order to remove debris, followed by an ultracentrifugation of 10.000 x g for 30 minutes (Ultracentrifuge Beckman Coulter Optima L-100 XP Ultracentrifuge with Ti45 rotor) in 4°C before filtering the supernatant through a 0.2 µm filter (DISMIC-25cs cellulose acetate, Advantec) and finally a second ultracentrifugation at 140.000 x g for 2 h at 4°C to pellet the exosomes. The pellet was resuspended directly in Nucleospin® miRNA lysis reagent (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany) and frozen at -80°C for the upcoming RNA extractions. Even with a starting material of 100 ± 1 ml BALF/patient, the resulting miRNA sample amount was very limited.

There has been some discussion about the distinction between exosomes from other vesicles, easily confused with exosomes, such as microvesicles, exosome-like vesicles and small vesicles containing virus [1]. Currently there are no specific exosome markers available, which complicate the extraction of a homogenous sample. The accepted method at the moment involves ultracentrifugation, filtration by size and using a sucrose gradient to separate the vesicles by density [152]. Exosomes float in sucrose gradients of 1.10 - 1.20 g/ml [90]. In addition, electron microscopy can be used to visually confirm the presence and purity of the exosomes. Exosomes express tetraspanins CD9, CD63, CD81 and CD 82 on their surface [153]. These can be used to ensure that a sample contain exosomes, but they are, however, not specific. These markers can be present on cells, but these have been removed from our samples and do not create complications for our experiment. Other vesicles with membranes from cells, however can also express these markers.

The limited amount of sample prevented us from performing all of the above mentioned methods to verify the sample composition. However, the ultra-centrifugation protocol used here has previously been verified in other publications [103, 107, 154].

3.1.2 RNA extractions

RNA was extracted using the Nucleospin®miRNA kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions, to separate small RNAs (including miRNAs) from larger RNAs before RNA integrity validation. The protein fraction was stored separately for further analysis in -70°C. RNA quality was assessed by determining UV 260/280 and 260/230 absorbance ratios obtained by the Nanodrop (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA), resulting in a mean 260/280 ratio of 1.7 (Median 1.57). The 260 wavelength measures the absorbance of nucleic acids, 280 measures proteins and 230 measures organic contaminants and solvents. The ratios between the selected combination of these give an indication of the purity of the measured sample. RNA size distribution was examined on RNA Pico LabChips (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) processed on the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer using the small RNA electrophoresis program.

3.2 EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

3.2.1 EMSA

Electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA), also referred to as gel shift assay, applied in paper I, is an in vitro method used to study protein-DNA interactions. Using a probe, a selected DNA strand of interest one can investigate whether the sequence of interest is present in a particular sample. The separation is performed over an electrophoretic charge in a polyacrylamide gel. Different molecules travel through the gel depending on their size and charge. In order to visualise the bands of probe-protein interactions, the probe can be pre-labelled with radioactivity and visualised by exposure onto a film [155]. In paper I we used an oligonucleotide with a TCF/LEF consensus binding site (5'- TGT TGT TAA GCA AAG ATC AAA GCC CGG CAG AG -3') end-labelled with [γ 32-P] ATP, as a probe. Alkaline phosphatase treatment is used to remove a 5'phosphate from the probe of choice. Thereafter polynucleotide kinase is added to catalyse the transfer a new phosphate group, this time a radioactively pre-labelled phosphate, to the 5'-end of the probe. After purification the probe is ready to be used on the EMSA.

3.2.2 Cytocentrifugation

Cytocentrifugation is a technique to apply collected cells onto glass slides for further analyses. We used this method in paper I and paper II, for epithelial and BAL cells respectively. In both experiments a total of 60 000 cells/slide were cytocentrifuged onto Superfrost®Plus glass slides (Menzel-Gläser, Braunschweig, Germany) for further differential cell counts and immunocytochemistry.

3.2.3 Immunocytochemistry

In paper I and II we used immunocytochemistry to investigate the expression of proteins of interest in our cells. The cells, bronchial epithelial cells in paper I and BAL cells in paper II, were cytospun onto glass slides and specific antibodies (Ab) were used to target the proteins. In paper I we used the 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB) method and in paper II fluorescent labels conjugated to the secondary antibodies were used to visualise and quantify the specific binding.

The slides were first fixed in formalin or paraformaldehyde (PFA) and washed in PBS before retrieving the antigens by boiling the slides in citrate buffer. Because these were whole cells, as opposed to tissue slides, we permeabilised the cell membranes by applying ice-cold methanol on them. After another brief wash we blocked endogenous peroxidise activity using hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). Unspecific binding was blocked using serum or antibody dilution buffer consisting of serum, bovine serum albumin (BSA) and TritonX. The protein of interest is bound by a primary antibody through incubation overnight. Incubation with the secondary antibody is briefer.

In the fluorescent method the primary antibodies used were monoclonal antibodies against 15-LOX-1 (dilution 1:1000), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ ; dilution1:100, Santa Cruz, sc-7196) produced in rabbit, and COX-1(dilution 1:200, Invitrogen 35–8100) and COX-2 (dilution 1:200, Invitrogen 35–8200) produced in mouse. The secondary antibody is covalently bound to a fluorescent

dye, which then requires a fluorescent microscope with lasers to visualise the location of the antigen/primary antibody binding. We used Cy5 labeled anti-rabbit sera from donkey (dilution 1:1000, Amersham 711-175-152) and Alexa488 labeled anti-mouse sera from goat (dilution 1:500– 1:1000, Molecular Probes A11001). Normal goat serum was purchased from Vector Laboratories (Burlingame, CA, USA; S-1000 and S-4000) and normal donkey serum from Sigma-Aldrich (D9663). Counterstaining was done using 4′,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole, dihydrochloride (DAPI, Invitrogen D1306).

In the case of using horseradish peroxidase a secondary antibody conjugated with biotin is used and then avidin is added, creating a complex together with biotin. A DAB substrate is applied onto the slides converting the avidin/biotin complex into a brown coloured pigment visual at the location of the protein of interest. A monoclonal β -catenin antibody was used as the primary antibody (1:100, BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA), the secondary antibody was a biotin-conjugated anti-mouse serum antibody (1:300, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Hematoxylin was used as a counterstain.

3.2.4 Microarrays

Microarray based methods allow simultaneous semi-quantitative detection of thousands of transcripts from small samples. Usually this high-throughput method is used for hypothesis generation and the risk of cross hybridisation requires some sort of validation of the results.

The small size and high sequence homology of miRNAs create a unique challenge for hybridisation-based detection techniques, requiring a different approach from the previous designs of genomic and mRNA methods.

In this method the RNA is directly labelled with a Cy3 fluorescent dye to the 3'end of each RNA. RNA probes of interest are anchored to the array glass slide by a stilt. This probe is a synthesised sequence that will hybridise to the target RNA in the sample. The miRNA microarray method requires some additional steps, compared to mRNA arrays, due to their smaller size. The protocol used (Agilent) adds a C residue to the 3'end during labelling of miRNAs and a G residue at the 5'end, to complement the previously added C residue, which increases the stability of binding target miRNAs [156]. The addition of these residues stabilises the annealing temperatures (Tm) of nearly all miRNAs to above 55°C. Tm is the temperature at which 50% of the oligonucleotide and its complementary strand are in duplex. The arrays we used utilise a calculated optimal probe length for several probes to work at the same Tm [157]. An additional 5'hairpin increase the target and size specificity of the miRNA. This hairpin structure destabilises binding to larger non-intended targets.

In papers III and IV we used this technique. For miRNA expression analyses the RNA was labeled with Cy3-CTP using the miRNACURY LNA microRNA power labeling kit (Exiqon, Inc, Woburn, MA), according to manufacturers protocol. Labeled RNA was hybridised to one-color Agilent custom UCSF miRNA v3.5 multi-species 8x15K Ink-jet arrays (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) containing 894 (paper III exosomes and IV BAL cells) or 1223 (paper IV exosomes) different miRNAs. Briefly, dephosphorylation of 5⁻ end was done in 37°C for 30 min followed by 95°C for 5 min

to stop the enzyme reaction and denature the RNA. Dye labeling of 3' end with fluorochrome Cy3 was performed in a thermal cycler for 3 hrs in 16°C, 15 min 65°C and kept at 4°C until the next step. The reaction was stopped by blocking agent at 100°C, thereafter samples were snap-frozen before hybridisation overnight (16 hrs) at 55°C with a rotation of 20rpm.

For the genexpression arrays (used in paper IV) RNA was amplified using the Low Input Quick Amplification Kit (Agilent Technologies) according to the manufacturer's protocol, and subsequent Cy3-CTP labeling was performed by using one-color labeling kits (Agilent Technologies). Clean-up of the labeled and amplified probe was performed (Zymo Research Corporation, Irvine, CA). The size distribution and quantity of the amplified product was assessed by Nanodrop. Equal amounts of Cy3-labeled target were hybridised to Agilent human whole-genome 4x44K Ink-jet arrays containing a total of 41,000 probes corresponding to 19,596 entrez genes. Hybridisations were performed at 65°C for 17 hours at a rotation of 10 rpm.

Arrays were washed in Agilent gene expression wash buffer 1 & 2 before scanning on the Agilent G2565BA scanner (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) with Scan region: Agilent HD (61x21.6) and a resolution of 5um, TIFF: 16 bit, extended dynamic range (XDR): 0.10. Raw signal intensities were extracted with Feature Extraction v10.1 software (Agilent). Flagged outliers were not included in any subsequent analyses.

3.2.5 PCR

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is the most commonly used technique for mRNA detection and quantification. It is used for example for functional analysis of genes, DNA cloning, detection of hereditary diseases, paternity testing and forensic identification by genetic fingerprints and diagnosis of disease.

Short DNA sequences of choice can be amplified into large quantities in a short amount of time. By repeated thermal cycles of heating and cooling the method allows DNA melting and enzymatic replication. Short DNA fragments called primers, complementary to the target region of interest, are used together with an enzyme called DNA polymerase for the amplification. These are the main components of the reaction. All the newly amplified strands are used in the next cycle and the DNA is thereby exponentially amplified.

Sybr green RT-PCR

Reverse transcription (RT) means to enzymatically convert RNA into first strand complementary DNA (cDNA), the substrate or template for the PCR. The method allows semi-quantitative detection of small amounts of template in the sample of interest. Real-time PCR, also called quantitative (q)PCR or qRT-PCR) is not to be confused with reverse-transcription PCR. In real time PCR the absolute quantity of the PCR product is measured during amplification, in real-time and is often combined with reverse transcription.

In project I we used the RT-PCR method with SYBR-green fluorescence, where the amount of PCR product is related to the fluorescence of the reporter dye. The SYBR green based detection method is the least expensive PCR method. Another option is

TaqMan which requires additional primers and a quencher, making it a lot more expensive. SYBR green binds to double stranded DNA by interacting between base pairs and only fluoresces when bound. Measurements occur at the end of each cycle when the largest amount of product is present.

A house-keeping gene is selected by its stability in the measured samples and experimental, as well as diseases, conditions. The choice of house-keeping gene for paper I was based on available literature defining PSMB2 as the best choice for BAL cells at the time of the experiments [158].

After RNA extraction and measurements aliquots of total RNA were converted to cDNA using a kit called ReactionReady First strand cDNA synthesis kit (SABiosciences, Frederick, MD). We used primers for WNT5A (#PPH02410A), WNT7B (#PPH02464A), WNT7A (#PPH02465A) and the housekeeping gene PSMB2 (#PPH20109A), as well as RT2Real-Time-SYBRGreen PCR-Master Mix from SABiosciences. The reaction cycle was as follows: 95°C for 10 min, 95°C for 15 s and 60°C for 1 min, for 40 cycles in an ABI PRISM Sequence Detector 7700 (Applied Biosystems,Foster City, CA).

Nano-scale qPCR

In paper III we applied a high-throughput nano-scale technique, due to its sensitivity, to validate our microarray miRNA findings in exosomes, because of our limited amount of samples as well as due to the advancement in technology that has occurred over the few years passing between the two studies.

In brief, we applied a multiplex quantitative RT-PCR method involving the purification of multiplex PCR products followed by uniplex analysis on a microfluidics chip (Fluidigm, South San Francisco). We validated a total of 41 miRNAs selected from our microarrays findings using stem-loop reverse transcription as described previously [159].

MiRNAs and exosomes are both relatively new and unknown subjects, and there was not much information found on what house-keeping miRNA to use. Furthermore, miRNAs are not cellular samples and housekeeping genes do not exist in the same manner as for cells. The selection was therefore done using an algorithm called geNorm identifying stable endogenous miRNAs from our samples to be used for normalisation. Normalisation was performed by subtracting the mean of the cycle thresholds (Ct) for the selected house-keeping miRNAs from the Ct for a miRNA of interest, for each sample [160].

3.2.6 FACS

Flow cytometry, applied in paper III, is a technique used for counting cells and measuring expression of pre-labelled cell-surface markers. By suspending cells into solution, fluorescently labelling and passing them through a fluorescent detection monitor in a Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorter (FACS), one can determine the physical and chemical characteristics of the studied sample. In order to label the molecules of interest, specific antibodies, co-labelled with a fluorescent dye, are required. The FACS contains lasers with specific wavelengths that activate the

fluorescent dyes. These can be combined in different manner in order to sort out cells of interest expressing different markers.

3.3 STATISTICAL METHODS

In the use of statistical methods in omics and systems biology research, which is characterised by large datasets with a high number of analytes tested by relatively small group sizes, the pitfalls of using traditional univariate statistics become plentiful, as discussed in more detail below.

3.3.1 Univariate analysis

Univariate (and bivariate) methods are designed for use in smaller sets of data. When over 6 variables are compared, correction for the increased high positive rate should be considered.

In paper I we used the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test to evaluate differences seen in the EMSA and RT-PCR data. The Mann-Whitney test, sometimes called the rank sum test, is a nonparametric test that compares two unpaired groups. Non-parametric means not assuming that the data is normally distributed. It works by ranking the values from low to high, paying no attention to which group each value belongs. If two values are the same, they both get the average of the two ranks for which they tie. The smallest number gets a rank of 1, the largest number a rank of N, where N is the total number of values in the two groups. The result is generated by summing up the ranks in each group. When the total sums in each group are very different, it leads to a low p value and a high significance of the test.

Correlations between groups in paper I were performed using Spearman's rank correlations test. This test is also a non-parametric test, comparing the dependence of two variables for each other.

Analysis of fluorescent immunostaining results in paper II were done using Student's ttest. This test is used for data with a normal distribution, which was confirmed by means of Shapiro-Wilks test.

Univariate statistical analyses in paper III and IV were performed using a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and p-value correction to account for a high false positive rate due to multiple hypothesis testing was performed using the false discovery rate (FDR) method according to Benjamini- Hochberg [161]. The FDR method is a way of correcting for multiple comparisons. The adjustment of the p-value is based on a fixed proportion of expected false positives among the significant results, rather than a fixed statistical power as is the case for the raw p-value.

False positives are the so called Type I errors, occurring when something is considered significant when indeed it is not. Type II errors on the other hand are called false negatives and appear when a statistical test fails to detect real differences. When using univariate methods one should consider pitfalls such as these.

The cost of correcting for type I errors is a loss of statistical power in the study, meaning the ability to detect your true positives, i.e. an increase of type II errors.

ANOVA provides a statistical test comparing, like most tests, whether or not the means of groups are equal. But in the case of ANOVA it is possible to test several groups at a time, applying the t-test to more than two groups. Repeated t-tests would result in an increased chance of committing a type I error, which ANOVA corrects for.

In paper IV a non-parametric one-way ANOVA with the Kruskal-Wallis test combined with Dunn's post test was used for evaluating clinical data between the groups. The Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA is used for statistics comparing several unrelated groups. As in the Mann-Whitney method, the Kruskal-Wallis ranks the data independently of groups. The Kruskal-Wallis test is used for three or more groups.

Because this test only tells whether there is a significant difference, not where it is, we continued with the Dunn's post-test which gave us this information. This test compares the gained sum of ranks with an expected average difference, based on the number of comparisons and groups, reporting it then as a p value.

Logarithmic $(log)_2$ transformation of the data was applied to the data in Paper I and paper II, III and IV in order to acquire a normal distribution of the measured data. Applying a logarithmic scale hereby allows further analysis by parametric methods.

3.3.2 Multivariate analysis

An complement to univariate analysis is multivariate methods that are used for datasets with a larger number of variables (measurement points). The method decreases the dimensionality of the data to thereby aid in the interpretation and visualisation of the data. Multivariate modelling is a good alternative or complement to the univariate methods, as you avoid the problem with false positives due to a simultaneous analysis of all your variables and at the same time account for the co-variance of the dataset.

In paper II, III and IV we had large datasets with several different measurements from each patient, which required more complex analytical tools. Using multivariate methods as a complementary method alongside the primary univariate analysis of the dataset, allowed us to detect more subtle changes and interactions between variables. Using supervised models we could reveal important differences related to other factors within the datasets. The multivariate findings are often also validated by univariate statistical testing.

We performed the multivariate analyses using SIMCA P+ software v12.0.1 (Umetrics AB, Umeå, Sweden) using principal component analysis (PCA) and orthogonal projections to latent structures (OPLS) [162].

PCA analysis is an unsupervised method where the high dimensional data is reduced to a few dimensions, called principal components in order to visualize the data more clearly. As illustrated in Figure 11 the data is visualised as a cloud of dots, with one dot representing each observation combining the data points of all the variables for that particular observation. In a model with 2 PCs, the data will be visualised as a two dimensional image instead of a multidimensional cloud which would be impossible to visualise. This could be compared to a light shining on the cloud of dots. The software extracts components from this spread; The 1st component always being the one with the largest variance, the second largest variance becomes the 2nd component etc. The maximal number of components is the same as the number of original variables, but the number of significant variables is generally limited to a few [163].

In contrast to the more commonly used PCA modelling, OPLS analysis is a supervised method removing variation from X (descriptive variables) that are not correlated to Y (response variables). Separating this structured noise unrelated (orthogonal) to the predictive variance of interest increases the interpretability of the multivariate model, particularly in deriving the observed group separation back to the variables of interest [164].



Figure 11. An illustration demonstrating the method by which algorithms creates a two-dimensional image of multiple dimensions. In the example we have a combination of 20 observations and 5 variables for each observation combined into one dot for each observation (A). The 1^{st} principal component (PC1) is created where the variance is the largest, the 2^{nd} (PC2) where the variance is second largest and so on (B). When all the components explaining the data are created, the data is projected onto a plane, illustrated by a black dot (C). This could be compared to shining a light onto a cloud of dots and looking at the shadow that it creates (D). *Illustration created using an original images from SIMCA as a model [163, 165]*.

In order to effectively evaluate the usefulness of your model the performance is reported as cumulative correlation coefficients for the model (\mathbb{R}^2) and predictive performance based on seven-fold cross validation calculations (\mathbb{Q}^2), as well as cross-validated ANOVA (CV-ANOVA) p-values for the OPLS models. These are highly important as a visually convincing separation does not always indicate a good model or a high predictive power. Over-fitting data may lead to an impressive graph showing a clear-cut separation of the groups, but without biological relevance. This means that too

much of the variation in the data is explained, including noise and unrelated variation in the description of the consistent structure of interest. Over-fitting should be avoided as it lowers the prediction quality measured by the above mentioned coefficient Q^2 .

Variable selection for model optimisation was performed iteratively based on the Variable Importance in the Projections (VIP) and scaled loadings of the predictive component of the OPLS models (p(corr)), using iterative selection cut-offs of VIP scores and p(corr) values, as displayed in the volcano plot used in paper III (Figure 12). The inclusion criteria applied were VIP > 1.0 (Y-axis) and absolute p(corr) > 0.5 (x-axis). Blue colored spots indicate selection in first iteration, and red dots indicate final selection following a second iteration utilising the same criteria.



Figure 12. A volcano plot demonstrating the selection of variables based on VIP and p(corr) values for optimisation of the model.

Individual models were compared through a shared-and-unique-structures (SUS) analyses, where the scaled loadings (p(corr)) of the respective models are plotted against each other (Figure 13) [166]. In the resulting plot the shared variables will cluster along the diagonals, while variables unique for either model are found along the axes. The empty space at the center is due to removal of variables with low VIP and/or p(corr) values.



Figure 13. SUS-plot used to compare two models. P(corr) values from each model are plotted against each other. Variables around the diagonal red lines are shared structures in both models. Variables located along the axes, i.e. in the squares are unique for one of the models.

4 AIMS

The overall aims of the following projects are to, by the use of multiple platforms, elucidate differences and similarities in three common inflammatory pulmonary diseases; Sarcoidosis, asthma and COPD. In addition to results from techniques used in this dissertation; electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA), semi quantitative RT-PCR, immunocytochemistry, FACS and RNA microarrays, we will expand our data with additional proteomics and metabolomics techniques. By applying complex analysis methods we strive to add to the current knowledge of inflammatory pulmonary diseases, potentially finding biomarkers and pharmaceutical targets to be used for early diagnosis and individualised treatment.

5 RESULTS & DISCUSSION

5.1 WNT SIGNALLING IN SARCOIDOSIS

As discussed in the introductory part, WNTs are important in several physiological functions such as cell proliferation, differentiation and migration. Many of the target genes of the WNT/ β -catenin pathway have been shown to be up-regulated in sarcoidosis [167, 168].

Previous findings have shown WNTs to be important in the development of fibrosis in fibrotic pulmonary diseases such as idiopathic pulmonary disease (IPF) and fibrosis often develops in chronic sarcoidosis [167]. With this background we hypothesised that WNTs might play a role in sarcoidosis. More specifically we speculated that WNTs secreted from inflammatory cells in BAL, could be involved in the increased intracellular active β -catenin levels in epithelial cells and contribute to the development of fibrosis in the sarcoidosis patients. Epithelial cells express several WNT-receptors [169, 170].

In paper I we investigated the activity of β -catenin, the intracellular signalling molecule in the WNTs signalling cascade, in BAL cells and brush biopsy samples from sarcoidosis patients. We investigated the gene expression by RT-PCR in BAL cells. Using a radioactively marked probe with the known sequence of a TCF/LEF oligonucleotide on nuclear extracts prepared from the collected cells, we could by EMSA determine the presence of complementary binding sites. By immunocytochemistry we studied the nuclear expression of β -catenin in epithelial cells in patients with sarcoidosis, and found indications of an increased activation.

WNT3, -4, -7A, -7B, -10B and -11 expressions have previously been described in lung and lung cell lines [170-174]. We investigated the expression of *WNT3*, *WNT5A*, *WNT7A*, *WNT7B* and *WNT11* in BAL cells and found *WNT5*, *WNT7A* and *WNT7B* to be differentially expressed. These differences were even more pronounced when subdividing the patients into groups according to disease stages (Figure 14). The levels of *WNT3* and *WNT11* were below detection levels. This suggests a role for WNTs in the inflammatory process in sarcoidosis and a possible role in the formation of granulomas, which is a characteristic feature of sarcoidosis. Abnormal WNT-signalling has previously been shown in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, with an up-regulation of WNT7B, WNT10B and WNT1 [175]. The later stages of sarcoidosis have elevated fibrosis development (Table 1) and these results support our hypothesis of WNT involvement in this process.

Interestingly, our results indicate that the expression of WNTs in sarcoidosis may be affected by smoking status. This is supported by another study that showed that the WNT-pathway is activated by smoke in bronchial epithelial cells [176]. It would be of great interest to further evaluate if this is true also in COPD patients who smoke.

The changes in WNT7B expression did not reach significance, but did, however, approach significance (p = 0.052) when we removed smoking individuals from the

sarcoidosis group (Figure 15). Smoking has previously been indicated to have a protective effect on the development of sarcoidosis [148].



Figure 14. WNT expression correlated with the sarcoidosis chest radiographic stages. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR levels of *WNT5A*, *WNT7A* and *WNT7B* mRNA in patients with sarcoidosis compared to healthy individuals. The Bars indicate median. H = healthy, S = sarcoidosis, I-IV = radiographic stages 1-4. *p<0.05.



Figure 15. *WNT7B* expression in all included subjects compared to expression with non-smoking sarcoidosis patients only. Bars indicate median. H = healthy, S = sarcoidosis.



Figure 16. WNT pathway related genes differentially expressed in COPD and smokers. H = healthy, Sm = smokers, xS = ex-Smokers. Bars indicate median and interquartile range. *< 0.05, *** < 0.0001.

By performing global analyses, the involvement of WNTs in asthma and COPD can be investigated in conjunction with the hypothesis generating aspects of the omics technologies. Unpublished results from our microarray data revealed *WNT5B* and *FZD8* expression to be significantly lower in smokers and COPD smokers respectively (Figure 16). Other genes related to WNT signalling seen to be lower in smokers and COPD smokers were *WNT9*, *WNT11*, *WNT7B* and *WNT10A*, although these did not reach significance (Unpublished data). *FZD9* expression was significantly higher in COPD smokers (unpublished data).

Löfgrens' syndrome is a sub-group of sarcoidosis patients with a usually good prognosis. Twelve of the included sarcoidosis patients had Löfgren's syndrome. *WNT7B* expression between sarcoidosis patients with and without Löfgren's syndrome reached significance (p < 0.01) (Figure 17).

Several recent studies indicate that WNT5A and WNT7B are of importance also in asthma [177, 178].



Figure 17. Correlation of WNT expression with patients with and without Löfgren's syndrome. Bars indicate median. Non-L = Non-Löfgren's, L = Löfgren's.. **p<0.001.

Epithelial-mesenchymal signalling has been implicated in IPF by several previous studies and some noted WNT/ β -catenin to be involved in this process [167, 175, 179]. The inflammation in sarcoidosis involves an accumulation of T cells and macrophages, involved in the formation of granulomas. In the chronic disease this inflammation can lead to the formation of fibrosis. One possible hypothesis is that the infiltrating inflammatory cells involved in the pathology of sarcoidosis, much like in IPF, secrete mediators that start a process of epithelial-mesenchymal signalling that then becomes self-sustaining.

Epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT), is an important process during tissue repair, which has been implicated in disease pathology for both asthma and COPD [180, 181]. Proper lung mesenchymal growth and vascular development requires WNT7B signalling [182]. Mice with disrupted WNT5 displayed abnormal morphogenesis in the distal lung [183].

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are known gene products of WNT/ β -catenin signalling. TGF- β may be activated through the proteolytic activities of a number of

mediators including MMPs. MMPs are a family of enzymes that can degrade components of the extracellular matrix (ECM). Deregulation of MMP activity has been implicated in asthma, COPD and sarcoidosis [184-191],with some differences in the type of MMPs present; In COPD mainly MMP-1, -2, -8 and -9, smokers with COPD MMP-12, sarcoidosis patients MMP-8 and -9.

Recently a group investigating the expression of miRNA in lung tissue and PBMCs from patients with sarcoidosis found that many of the differentially expressed miRNAs, miRNA-25, miRNA-199-5p and miRNA-214, were involved in the regulation of TGF β and WNT signalling [119].

This study showed for the first time the role of WNT and β -catenin signalling in the pathology of sarcoidosis. The increased WNT-signal activation could contribute to the inflammatory processes involved in the disease.

5.2 ALTERED OXYLIPIN PROFILES IN ASTHMATICS

Although several road exposures studies have been conducted; few studies have investigated the effect of subway air on lung function of sensitive individuals such as asthmatics. Considering the vast amount of people using the subway daily, it is highly important to evaluate the effects of subway air on both healthy individuals, as well as more sensitive individuals with an already compromised lung function, such as asthmatics.

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory lung disease that causes significant morbidity and mortality worldwide. Air pollutants such as PM and oxidants are important factors in causing exacerbations in asthmatics, and the source and composition of pollutants greatly affects pathological implications.

Oxylipins are compounds formed from unsaturated fatty acids that play an important regulatory role in several processes including inflammation and immunity.

In paper II we investigated responses of the respiratory system to Stockholm subway air in asthmatics and healthy individuals. Eicosanoids and other oxylipins were quantified in the distal lung to provide a measure of shifts in lipid mediators in association with exposure to subway air relative to ambient air.

Sixty-four oxylipins representing the cyclooxygenase (COX), lipoxygenase (LOX) and cytochrome P450 (CYP) metabolic pathways were screened using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) of BALF. The results revealed divergent oxylipin profiles in asthmatics and healthy following exposure to ambient and subway air. Significant changes were observed in nine metabolites (Figure 18).

The data plotted are normalised values used for calculation the actual difference between the exposures as a ration between subway (S) and control (C) exposures. The values are also \log_2 scaled. Oxylipin levels were increased in healthy individuals following exposure to subway air, whereas asthmatics evidenced decreases or no change.

Validations through immunocytochemistry staining of BAL-cells were performed for 15-LOX-1, COX-1, COX-2 and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) (Figure 19). The majority of the significantly different oxylipins, all except PGE₂, are metabolites from the linoleic acid (LA) or α -LA pathways. 15-LOX is an enzyme important in the synthesis of these metabolites. PGE₂ is a COX product from the arachidonic acid metabolic pathway, and is the most well studied in regards to asthma [192]. Previous studies have indicated that some of the differentially expressed oxylipins are involved in the regulation of PPAR γ , an anti-inflammatory receptor involved in several inflammatory diseases [193-196].



Figure 18. Alterations of the oxylipin profiles in response to subway air exposure. Significant differences (p<0.05) were observed in these 9 oxylipins. S/C = Subway Control. Values >1 indicate an increase, values >1 indicate a decrease. Bars indicate mean and interquartile range. Values are Log₂ transformed and baseline normalised prior to analysis, expressed as S/C = Subway/control exposure ratio [3].

The results showed no difference between asthmatics and healthy when comparing the actual differences. These were calculated as a subway/control exposure ratio on normalised values and blotted as log_2 values. When analysing the normalised data before ratio calculations, we could see a significant difference of COX-1 at baseline (control exposure) level between asthmatics and healthy (Figure 20).

The observed differences indicate that asthmatics lack a protective response to noxious stimuli that the healthy individuals show example of in their elevated levels of oxylipins in response to subway air exposure.



Figure 19. Immunocytochemistry results revealed a response difference approaching significance between asthmatics and healthy after subway exposure. S/C = subway/control exposure ratio, A= asthmatics, H= healthy. The bars indicate median with interquartile range [3].

Multivariate statistics were employed to interrogate acquired oxylipin and immunocytochemistry data in combination with patient clinical information. In Figure 21 multivariate OPLS analysis results are shown (A). The VIP plot reveals the degree of allergy response to be the variable with most weight in separating the two groups, asthmatics and healthy (B).

Several of the altered oxylipins have known or suspected bronchoprotective or antiinflammatory effects, suggesting a possible reduced anti-inflammatory response in asthmatics following exposure to subway air. These observations may have ramifications for sensitive subpopulations in urban areas.



Figure 20. Analysing the subway and control exposed groups separately revealed a significant difference between baselines (control exposures) of asthmatics and healthy. *p<0.05. C = control exposure, S = subway exposure. Bars indicate median with interquartile range [3].



Figure 21. OPLS analysis integrating oxylipin, immunohistochemistry and clinical variables, with asthma as the y-variable. The scores plot show a strong predictive power of the model (65%), as well as a nice separation of the groups with only two exceptions (A). The VIP plot demonstrates the variables important in separating the two groups seen in the scores plot (B). Error bars indicate 95% confidence interval.

The main differences were seen at baseline, which is interesting especially as these are mild intermittent asthmatics which were symptom free at the time of the study. When exposed to subway air the differences were levelled out. This may indicate that asthmatic patients have a lowered capacity to respond to noxious stimuli.

5.3 EXOSOMAL MIRNAS IN ASTHMA AND COPD

Exosomes have previously been shown to contain miRNAs, their presence has however not been demonstrated in BALF exosomes [99, 106]. We investigated the miRNA content of exosomes collected by ultracentrifugation from BALF from asthmatics (paper III) and COPD patients (paper IV), as well as in their corresponding matched healthy controls. In paper III we had 894 different probes and in paper IV we had 1223 probes. This was due to an update of the array version from 3.5 to 3.6 between the two analyses.

Exosomes, with a potential role in the pathology of inflammatory pulmonary diseases, may serve as transport vesicles for the small RNAs and thereby affect gene expression in the target cell. Not much is currently known about the packaging of exosomes, the selection of target cells or method of uptake by target cells. Nevertheless, it has recently been shown by live-cell microscopy that exosomes are taken up by cells through the endocytic pathway involving actin [197]. Previous studies have shown uptake of exosomes through phagocytosis [198]. ICAM-1(also known as CD54) bearing exosomes can be captured by lymphocyte function-associated protein 1(LFA1), a ligand for ICAM-1, expressed on CD8+ dendritic cells and activated T cells [199, 200].

Both exosomes and miRNAs have been implicated in lung homeostasis during steadystate conditions by regulating gene expression.

In paper III we characterised the miRNA content of exosomes at baseline and in response to subway air exposure in healthy and mild intermittent asthmatics. In paper IV we investigated the miRNA content in COPD smokers, COPD ex-smokers, healthy current smokers and healthy never-smokers.

We confirmed the presence of miRNAs in exosomes from BALF in asthmatics, COPD patients, smokers and healthy individuals (Figure 22). We extracted RNA from the

exosomes in two fractions, large and small RNAs, but could not detect any large RNAs. Whether this is due to degradation or due to the fact that large RNAs are never transported by exosomes remains to be elucidated.



Figure 22 Bioanalyzer tracings confirming the presence of small RNAs in the exosomes samples. The first sharp peak is a marker, small RNAs as visible directly after the marker. Any large RNAs would be visible as the 18S and 28S rRNA at 40 and 45 seconds (x axis).

Significant differences in the BALF exosomal miRNA content was revealed between asthmatics and healthy controls at baseline. A subset of 16 miRNAs could be used to classify mild, non-symptomatic asthmatics from healthy individuals with 73% predictive power (Figure 23).



Figure 23. An OPLS scores plot demonstrating the separation of healthy and asthmatic individuals at baseline exposure (left panel). The right panel displays the 16 variables driving the separation of the two groups. The model is highly significant (CV-ANOVA = 1.4×10^{-5}) and had a predictive power of 73% (R² = 0.77, Q² = 0.73). HC = healthy control exposure, AC = asthma control exposure [3].

The OPLS analysis of exosomal miRNA expression in healthy smokers and smoking COPD patients revealed a significant separation between the groups (CV-ANOVA p =

0.03), but with a few apparent outliers clustering with the opposing groups resulting in an overall low predictive power ($R^2 = 0.42$, $Q^2 = 0.30$). The majority of the miRNAs were over-expressed in smoking COPD patients compared to healthy smokers; miRNA-1260, miRNA-92b, miRNA-4286, miRNA-1181, miRNA-766, let-7b and let-7c (Figure 24).



Figure 24. OPLS scores plot of exosomal miRNAs using one orthogonal factor in a model with COPD smokers and healthy smokers lead to a significant model (CV-ANOVA = 0.03) with a predictive power of 30%.

The let-7 family of miRNAs are one of the first discovered miRNAs and are known to be expressed in lung tissue and cells. Let-7c for example has been shown to be reduced in sputum of smoking COPD patients [201]. With this in mind, it is not unexpected to discover these miRNAs in both disease models. The otherwise differing set of miRNAs might be an indication of the difference between the diseases, and indeed be a clue for the involvement of miRNAs in the regulation of the specific inflammatory disease pathology in the respective diseases. In order to use miRNAs as disease biomarkers, specifically selected to distinguish one inflammatory lung disease from another, we are in search for highly specific markers only expressed in one condition.

Whether the differential expression of miRNAs from exosomes in these two diseases are due to the differences between the diseases or some other yet unknown reason remains to be elucidated. The inflammatory cell composition and reason for inflammation in these diseases are rather different. It would be of great interest to know the origin of the exosomes. Their surface composition and content varies depending on the cell type of origin and we hoped to be able to reveal the host cell by FACS analysis. Currently there are however, no specific cell surface markers for exosomes and the analysis is based on a combination of markers. Tetraspanins such as CD63, CD81 and CD9 are expressed on the surface of exosomes, these are however not specific and merely tell us that they are exosomes, not where they originate from. Moreover, the expression of tetraspanins have been shown to be affected by cigarette smoke and it is therefore questionable whether the measurements of these can be trusted when investigating exosomes from smokers and COPD patients [153].

We measured MHC class I and II, CD54, CD63 and CD86 by FACS in the exosomes from the asthma study (paper III) and found high levels of MHC class II and CD63. The expression of CD63 supports the endosomal origin of the vesicles. The presence of high MHC class II could indicate the host cells to be antigen presenting cells. But with CD86, also expressed by antigen presenting cells, expressed only slightly above background level, this theory would need further validation. CD54 (ICAM-1) is expressed by inflammatory cells, as well as airway epithelial cells. Although the levels of both CD54 and CD86 were only slightly above background levels, there were detectable levels which might indicate that a proportion of the exosomes originated from both inflammatory and epithelial cells. Furthermore, several of the miRNAs identified in exosomes were recent discoveries and have yet unknown functions.

These two studies were not designed to be compared and one must bear in mind in the inter-comparison, that the matching is not perfect. The age differs significantly in the two study populations, with a median age of 26 years in the asthmatic study and 57 years in the COPD study.

These studies show that there are substantial differences in the exosomal miRNA profile between healthy individuals and unprovoked asthmatics with mild, stable disease, as well as individuals with COPD regardless of smoking status.

5.4 MIRNA AND MRNA EXPRESSION IN BAL CELLS IN COPD

In paper IV we also performed, in addition to the exosomal miRNA experiments discussed above, microarray analyses using 894 and 41,000 probes respectively for miRNA and mRNA analysis of BAL cells.

The results revealed significant differences of the miRNA content and gene expression between COPD smokers and healthy smokers with normal lung function. The majority of the miRNAs were up-regulated in COPD smokers both in BAL cells and exosomes. Using multivariate statistical modelling on the BAL miRNA profiles provided a significant separation of the groups (p=0.004), a number of miRNAs important in driving the separation between healthy smokers and smokers with COPD could be identified. With one orthogonal and one predictive component we could achieve a model with R^2 = 0.52 and a Q^2 =0.33 (Figure 25, left panel). The most prominent miRNA variables driving the separation of healthy smokers and smoking COPD patients in the BAL samples are displayed in the VIP-plot (Figure 25, right panel). The majority were higher in COPD patients compared to smokers, including miRNA-513b, miRNA-665, miRNA-664, miRNA-494, miRNA-1972, miRNA-665, miRNA-574-5p, miRNA-1291; while a few miRNAs were found to be down-regulated due to COPD, miRNA-1260, miRNA-27b and miRNA-1274a.

Further analysis was performed creating gender-specific models; one for females and one for males, comparing smoking COPD patients to healthy smokers. The model for females was slightly stronger ($R^2 = 0.35$, $Q^2 = 0.30$, CV-ANOVA = 0.04) than the male model ($R^2 = 0.2$, $Q^2 = 0.24$, CV-ANOVA = 0.08). These differences were however not strong enough to draw any final conclusions about gender differences. Further analysis using larger groups are required.



Figure 25. OPLS analysis of BAL cell miRNA expression revealed 16 miRNAs important in separating the groups of healthy smokers and COPD smokers.

We created a similar model for the non-smoking population, comparing healthy neversmokers to COPD ex-smokers, and using a SUS-plot investigated the correlation of important variables. This plot helped reveal miRNAs that were unique for disease; miRNA-1260, miRNA-24, miRNA-720, miRNA-22*, let-7b and c, miRNA-1291, miRNA-664*, miRNA-612, miRNA-198, miRNA-1183, miRNA-494.

The BAL mRNA data showed a strong OPLS model with a clear separation between healthy smokers and smoking COPD patients ($R^2 = 0.68$, $Q^2 = 0.63$, CV ANOVA p = $1.1*10^{-6}$, Figure 26, left panel). mRNAs important for this separation were; *GPAT2*, *XIST*, *RBP1*, *NNMT*, *TNNT1*, *KDM5D*, *MMP7*, *IGFBP2*, *SPP1*, *ZDHHC11* and *CHI3L1* (Figure 26, right panel). In contrast to the miRNAs, the majority of these mRNAs were over-expressed in COPD.

An important factor in the COPD disease process is inflammation and this could be detected by the top variables driving the separation between the groups. Some of these, with known roles in the inflammatory process, were let-7, miRNA-29b, *SPP1, CHI3L1, MMP-2* and *MMP-7*. Other ones, such as *NNMT* are important in proliferation and migration of cells.

We found that MMP-7 and osteopontin (SPP1), target genes of WNT signalling, were significantly differentially expressed in COPD smokers [202, 203].



Figure 26. OPLS analysis of gene expression between healthy smokers and COPD smokers.

These results indicate clear differences in both miRNA and mRNA expression between healthy smokers and COPD smokers. The analysis method is designed to focus on disease related differences, instead of revealing the more expected smoking-related differences, by comparing the smoking population to each other separately from the non-smoking population. MiRNAs play an important role in regulating protein translation and are capable of affecting several levels at the same time, making it difficult to study their impact. Further experiments verifying our results and analysis using pathway analysis software are, therefore needed to understand the complex interplay between the differentially expressed genes and miRNAs. Integrating these data with other results, such as FACS analysis data, proteomics data will further our understanding of the pathology of COPD.

6 CONCLUDING REMARKS

This dissertation illustrates the complexity of the discussed diseases with many factors involved. Current diagnosis of the discussed inflammatory pulmonary diseases, in particular asthma and COPD is mainly based on a combination of lung function evaluation and observation of symptoms. There is no sole and exact clinical or laboratorial test available. This accentuates the need for a biomarkers used for specific and preferably early clinical markers to diagnose disease or disease phenotypes.

Treatment is also currently mainly focusing on controlling inflammation and maintaining the diseases, and there is no cure. Unspecific systemic treatment often causes side effects and this calls for new medication options, possible new targets, in order to remove or minimise this disadvantage.

The results show regulation of several pathways on multiple levels, including some inter-regulation between the studies molecules. Combining global analysis methods with complementary validation techniques in order to evaluate the similarities, or perhaps more importantly, the differences of these pulmonary diseases is the strength of this project.

Recently it has been discussed that complex diseases, such as the ones discussed here, are likely to be due to a global change of regulation involving several factors rather that just singular events. The use of global screening methods from multiple molecular levels is therefore the preferred approach to unravel the underlying pathological mechanisms. Traditional so called reductionist methods are still valuable and essential, but rather than as a starting point, perhaps better suited as validation methods after the pre-selection has been made based on the global techniques.

The combination of clinical phenotyping and omics methodology, bioinformatics tools and clinical immunology will in the larger context of the projects described here ultimately lead to an improved understanding of the cellular processes involved in the development of inflammatory pulmonary diseases. However, it should be noted that in order to fully evaluate the similarities and differences between the examined inflammatory pulmonary diseases, it might be necessary to perform all the proposed methodologies on all three diseases. Accordingly, this project represents a first step and a fraction of a larger context of elucidating the systems components underlying chronic inflammatory lung diseases.

7 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

With large datasets from multiple platforms, and the combined study of various diseases with related symptoms and manifestations, it is crucial to integrate data in order to benefit from all the available, disparate information. The combination of data from separate studies will aid us to understand the underlying reasons and differences. This is, however, an extensive problem in bioinformatics research.

Currently there are no completed studies integrating data this way, and to this extent, although several attempts have been made. Data sets from different experimental techniques lead to a very variable set of data, requiring some sort of global scaling in order to include these in the same analysis. Integrating data like this from diverse and dynamic sources has become increasingly more demanding as the amount of data, sources and variability grows.

The studies included in this dissertation are part of larger studies. Other sets of data including proteomics and metabolomics, as well as FACS analyses in addition to all the collected clinical patient data, on the same set of patients are already available or under ways. Our future aims are to complete the missing data sets, ultimately completing the same analysis in all three diseases, further investigating miRNA and mRNA, oxylipin and WNT expression in inflammatory pulmonary diseases in combination with the results from the other platforms.

Our next challenge is therefore to integrate data from different platforms in order to interpret the entire data set as a whole. This rather arduous process requires further knowledge in complex data analysis and methodology outside the scope of this dissertation.

8 SAMMANFATTNING

Sarkoidos, astma och kronisk obstruktiv lungsjukdon (KOL) är tre inflammatoriska lungsjukdomar med varierande kliniska fenotyper. Ett gemensamt drag för alla sjukdomarna är inflammationen. Vid sarkoidos tros denna inflammtion bero på exponering för ett eller flere ännu okända ämnen, vid KOL i de flesta fall på cigarrettrökning och vid astma på en överdriven reaktion mot ofarliga substanser. Långvariga inflammationer som dessa skadar och omformar vävnaden i lungan, i vissa fall oåterkalleligt. För tillfället finns inget botemedel för någon av sjukdomarna, vilket tyder på ett behov av att definiera de patologiska mekanismerna för en mera individuell behandling.

I denna avhandling studerade vi ovannämnda sjukdomar genom en kombination av globala screeningsmetoder med valideringstekniker. Vi studerade intracellulär wingless/integrated (WNT)-signalering i bronchoalveolärlavage (BAL) celler och i epitelceller hos sarcoidos patienter. Oxylipin nivåer mättes i BAL vätska från astmatiker. Global screening av mRNA och miRNA utfördes i BAL celler från KOL patienter, samt miRNA i exosomer från både astmatiker och KOL patienter.

WNT är ett lipoglykoprotein, viktig i flera cellulära processer såsom proliferation och differentiering genom att binda till receptorer på membranet som startar en intracellulär signaleringsprocess som involverar intracellulära \beta-catenin. Resultaten i denna avhandling visade att det finns skillnader i WNT uttrycket och β-catenin aktiviteten hos sarkoidos patienter, vilket tyder på att dessa molekyler inverkar på utvecklandet av fibros. Fettämnen som kallas oxylipider syntetiseras vid behov från omega-3 och omega-6 omättade fettsyror och är inblandade i olika inflammatoriska processer. Vi upptäckte skillnader i oxylipin nivåerna i BAL vätskan hos milda astmatiker exponerade med tunnelbaneluft, vilket antyder att individer med en sänkt lunfunktion har en försvagad respons till inandade skadliga stimuleringar. Exosomer är små vesikler, tillverkade i multivesikulära endosomer i flere olika celltyper, vilka tros vara involverade i extracellulär transport av molekyler. MikroRNA (miRNA), som har visats finnas i exosomer, är korta RNA sekvenser som kan påverka genuttrycket och translationen av proteiner genom att regulera budbärar RNA (mRNA). Uttrycket av miRNA i celler och exosomer och genuttrycket i BAL celler var signifikant olika hos KOL rökare jämfört med friska rökare. Dessa kombinerade resultat indikerar på globala förändringar i olika signaleringsvägar vilket kräver omfattande studier som tar flera metoders resultat i beaktande för att klarlägga de mekanistiska skillnaderna i dessa sjukdomar.

Projekten i denna avhandling är en del av flere större studier. Vår målsättning är att integrera resultaten från flere tekniker; transcriptomik, proteomik och metabolomik genom att använda oss av komplexa analysmetoder för att klargöra de gemensamma dragen, samt olikheterna mellan dessa inflammatoriska lungsjukdomar. Genom större kännedom om bakomliggande mekanismer och orsaker för sjukdomarma, kan vi möjligen i framtiden framställa diagnosen tidigare och mera tydligt, och utveckla bättre och mera personliga behandlingsalternativ för patienterna.

9 TIIVISTELMÄ

Sarkoidoosi, astma ja keuhkoahtaumatauti ovat kolme keuhkotulehdussairautta vaihtelevilla kliinisillä fenotyypeillä. Yhteistä näillä sairauksilla on tulehdustila, joka sarkoidoosissa luullaan riippuvan vielä tuntemattoman aineen alistumisesta, keuhkoahtaumatauti johtuu yleensä tupakoinnista ja astmaatikoilla on liioiteltu reaktio vaarattomille hengitetyille aineille. Yllämainitut pitkäaikaiset tulehdukset vahingoittavat ja muuttavat keuhkokudosta, joissain tapauksissa peruuttamattomasti. Tällä hetkellä parannuskeinoa ei ole, osoittaen tarpeeseen määrittää näiden sairauksien patologiset mekanismit johtaen henkilökohtaisempaan hoitoon.

Tässä väitöskirjassa tutkittiin yllämainittua kolmea sairautta yhdistämällä laajoja seulontatutkimuskia validointi tekniikoilla. Tutkimme solun sisäistä wingless/integrated (WNT)-viestinvälitystä bronkoalveolaari (BAL) ja epiteeli soluissa sarkoidoosipotilaissa. Astmaatikkojen oxylipiiditasot mitatiin BAL nesteessä. Lähetti RNA (mRNA) ja mikroRNA (miRNA) tasoja mitatiin seulontatutkimuksilla keukoahtaumatautisten soluissa ja miRNA tasoja myös astmaatikoiden ia keuhkoahtaumatutisten exosoomeista.

WNT on lipoglykoproteiini joka on tärkeä esimerkiksi solujen kasvussa ja eriytymisessä. WNTin solunsisäinen viestinvälitys, jossa β -cateninilla on tärkeä osa, alkaa sen sitoutuneen solukalvon reseptoreihin. Tulokset tässä väitöskirjassa osoittaa erillaisuuksia WNT tasoissa sekä solunsisäisissä β-catenin viesteissä sarkoidoosi potilaiden BAL ja epiteelisoluissa. Oxylipidit ovat rasva-aineita, jotka syntetisoituvat tarvittaessa omega-3 ja omega-6 tyydyttymättömistä rasvahapoista ja ovat osallisia useissa tulehduksillisissa prosesseissa. Havaittiin lievien astmaatikoiden BAL nesteen oxylipiidi tasoissa eroja maanalaisen metro ilman alistuksen jälkeen, ehdottaen keuhkosairailla olevan heikennetty vastaus hengitetyille vahingollisille aineille. Eksosomi on pieni vesikkeli, valmistettu solunsisäisissä endosomeissa, monissa eri solutyypeissä, joiden uskotaan olevan osallisia solun ulkoisessa viestinnässä kantamalla molekyyli viestejä kuten miRNA:ita. MiRNAt toimii transkription jälkeisinä geeninsäätelijöinä solussa, vaikuttamalla proteiinisynteesiin mRNA:iden kautta. Meidän tuloksemme osoittivat erilaisuuksia solujen mRNA ja miRNA ekspressiotasoissa, sekä eksosoomien miRNA tasoissa tupakoivilla keuhkoahtaumatautisilla potilailla verrattuna terveisiin tupakoitsijoihin. Nämä tulokset ilmaisevat muutoksia vhdistetyt laajalla tasolla ja monessa eri viestintätapahtumassa, ehdottaen tarvetta laajaan tutkimukseen, ottaen huomioon tuloksia monista eri tekniikoista, sillä tavalla selventäen sairauksien mekanistiset erot.

Väitöskirjan osateokset ovat osia monesta suuremmasta tutkimuksesta. Tavoitteemme on integroida tulokset monesta eri tekniikasta; transkriptomiikasta, proteomiikasta ja metabolomiikasta, käyttämällä vaativia analyysimenetelmiä, selventäen yhtäläisyydet, sekä erillisyydet näissä kolmessa keuhkotulehdussairauksissa. Parempi tietoisuus mekanismeista ja sairauksien syistä on mahdollisesti tulevaisuudessa apua kehittäessä aikaisemmassa ja selvemmässä diagnoosissa, sekä potilaille henkilökohtaisempia ja parempia hoitovaihtoehtoja.

10 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am enormously grateful to all of you, colleagues and friends, who have supported me during these years. I would in particular like to thank:

Åsa Wheelock, my supervisor, for teaching me the wonders of proteomics and statistics, as well as encouraging me to be independent in my work. Not to mention your understanding in my great need for travelling, allowing me to do part of my work in a lab in San Francisco.

Magnus Nord, my co-supervisor, for welcoming me to the lab and encouraging my curiosity. Your never-ending knowledge is inspiring.

Johan Grunewald, my co-supervisor, for being a great boss and introducing me to the world of Sarcoidosis. Thank you for your constant support and understanding. With your calm attitude you create a great work environment.

Anders Eklund for always taking time to be interested in my projects and encouraging me with supporting words of kindness. Magnus Sköld for the never-ending clinical knowledge and always taking the time to explain. Jan Wahlström for showing such great passion for immunology and always being up for discussions about anything related to research. Olle Andersson.

My mentor **Eva Sverremark-Ekström** for supporting me in the background; letting me know she is available if I ever needed support.

The fantastic research nurses **Helene Blomqvist**, **Margitha Dahl**, **Gunnel de Forest** for finding patients for our studies and for making sure we received our samples. You create a warm atmosphere with your kindness. **Emma Karlsson** and **Helene Utterberg** for organising anything and everything involved with administration, thereby making everything so much easier.

Past and present members of our group, my family at the lung-research lab:

Benita Dahlberg, the anchor of the lab. Your work makes the entire lab run smoothly. Thank you for all the fun days and for caring so much about all of us. **Benita Engvall** and **Lotta Müller-Suur** as the first reliable stop for the samples in the lab. **Lukas Didon**, my very first room-mate, for being a major help when I first started in the lab, always taking time to answer questions. Without you, your help and your stories I might have given up before I even started. You made me believe in my abilities. Also, I love living in your apartment. **Abraham Roos** for being the bestest and funniest roommate and friend. I enjoy the way you don't always agree with me, leading to every-day heated discussions and arguments. About everything, research related and unrelated. You were a great conference travel buddy making sure I woke up in time in the mornings. It's been fantastic to do this laborious journey with you! **AnnSofi Sandberg** for diving into the mysteries of 2DE together with me. Thank you for being a great friend both in the lab and outside, for always being up for any plans; going to concerts with me when you don't even particularly like the music and for all the laughs! **Maria**

Wikén for the dreamy and unforgettable return trip to Itacaré. Mikael Mikko for the late night lab snacks and for always making me laugh so much. Especially with that crazy dance. It was a one-timer and I really wish I could see it again. Keep it up with your finish practice. Helena Forsslund for breaking up the serious research with some humor. Maxie Kohler and Kie Kasuga for taking care of my brush biopsy samples when I was away. Malin Müller for teaching me immunocytochemistry with such detail. Caroline Olgart-Höglund, Charlotta Dagnell, Farah Idali, Marija Kramar, Karin Sahlander, Pernilla Darlington, Ulrika Zagai, Mahyar Ostadkarampour, Ernesto Silva, Cecilia Kemi, Gian Luca Greco, Long Ping, Muntasir Abo-Al-Hayija, Adrian Moser, Johan Öckinger, Tina Heider and Kerstin Ahlgren. Thank you for making our lab such a great place to work at!

My co-authors and collaborators in Stockholm: Susanna Lundström, Craig Wheelock, Susanne Gabrielsson, Patricia Torregrosa-Paredes, Zekiye Cansu, Stefanie Hiltbrunner, Magnus Svartengren, Britt-Marie Larsson and Anna Klepczynska-Nyström and in Malmö: Ola Forsström-Olsson, Anna Kapferer and Maria Schubert. Thank you for sharing your knowledge.

The entire laboratory at the Lung biology center at University of California San Francisco (UCSF) **David Erle, Rebecca Barbeau, Joshua Pollack, Andrea Barczak, Bradley Schroeder, Louis Nguyenvu, Wenxue Zhao, Edwin Ostrin** and **Christine Mok.** Thank you so much for welcoming me to the lab. Rebecca and Josh, I am so happy we became friends and thankful for the enthusiasm you showed in introducing me to your lovely city, as well as all the good food & wine. I will always treasure the memories!

Prescott Woodruff, Nirav Bhakta, Jeffrey Peng , Cindy Nguyen and all the other members at the Pulmonary and critical care division at UCSF.

Susanne Johansson, Ying Zhao and **Andreas Hermansson** for the good company on my first, and probably the most exciting, conference trip to beautiful Rio de Janeiro.

Rebecca Barbeau, Courtney Cook, Parks Coyle, Rowan Geiger; Thank you ladies for making my time in San Francisco so full of memories. It would not have been the same without you.

Jill Johnson for always being up for a challenging discussion about research, but also for the many fun days & nights outside that world. And for teaching me everything Canadian worth knowing ab<u>oot</u>!

Kiitos nasu-rakas, **Anja Virsu**, kaikista juttelu hetkistä ja hulluitteluista [©] Ilman niitä ja sun tuesta tämä retki olisi ollut paljon raskaampi. **Annika Roos**, precis samma gäller dig gumman! **Tjalle Wigell** – inte så långt efter [©], **Sibylle von Boetticher** for the guiding around Cape Town and surroundings, these kind of holidays have kept me sane through the years, **Harri Yrjö-Koskinen, Erkka Lilja, Padde Aaltonen, Åsa Bruhn, Hannah Murphy, Torie Allerston** and **Taru Jokinen** for your friendship, it means a lot to me. Thank you all for your patience (staying in contact was never my strong attributes) and for making sure I didn't lose myself completely on the way.

Mamma och Pappa, **Rigmor Lindgren & Ari Levänen**, tack för att ni alltid finns där för mig och tror på mig, oberoende var jag finns och vad jag hittar på. Det betyder otroligt mycket för mig. Momi **Anni Lindgren** för att du alltid är glad och orkar skicka uppiggande kort åt mig varje vecka. Din glädje och optimism är beundransvärd! Världens bästa storebror **Kenneth Levänen** som alltid trott på sin busiga lillasyster. Tack för att du alltid är så snäll! Sist men inte minst **Hedvig Jakobsson** och lilla **Tim**. ♥

Jag gjorde det!! 😳

The work in the thesis was supported by the Swedish Heart-Lung foundation (HLF), Söderberg Research Foundation, the Swedish Research Council of Medicine, the American Thoracic Society, EU Fp6: Marie Curie, Åke Wiberg Research Foundation, the Stockholm County Council, Centre for allergy research (Cfa), the Swedish Society for Immunology (SWIMM), the Swedish Society for Medical Research (SSMF), The King Oscar II Jubilee Foundation, VINNOVA (VINN-MER), Stockholm City Council (ALF), The King Oscar II Jubilee Foundation, Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research (SSF), VINNOVA, The Hesselman Foundation, The Swedish Transport Administration, UCSF Sandler Asthma Basic Research (SABRE) Center and Karolinska Institutet.

11 REFERENCES

- 1. Thery, C., M. Ostrowski, and E. Segura, *Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. **9**(8): p. 581-93.
- 2. Gyorgy, B., et al., *Membrane vesicles, current state-of-the-art: emerging role of extracellular vesicles.* Cell Mol Life Sci, 2011. **68**(16): p. 2667-88.
- 3. Lundstrom, S.L., et al., *Asthmatics exhibit altered oxylipin profiles compared to healthy individuals after subway air exposure.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(8): p. e23864.
- 4. Lopez, A.D. and C.C. Murray, *The global burden of disease*, *1990-2020*. Nat Med, 1998. **4**(11): p. 1241-3.
- Loddenkemper, R., G.J. Gibson, and Y. Sibille, *The burden of lung disease in Europe: why a European White Book on lung disease?* Eur Respir J, 2003. 22(6): p. 869.
- Wu, J., et al., Differential proteomic analysis of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in asthmatics following segmental antigen challenge. Mol Cell Proteomics, 2005. 4(9): p. 1251-64.
- 7. Wu, W., et al., 3-Bromotyrosine and 3,5-dibromotyrosine are major products of protein oxidation by eosinophil peroxidase: potential markers for eosinophildependent tissue injury in vivo. Biochemistry, 1999. **38**(12): p. 3538-48.
- 8. Gibson, G.J., *Respiratory Medicine*. 2003: Saunders.
- 9. Paulsson, M., *Basement membrane proteins: structure, assembly, and cellular interactions.* Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol, 1992. **27**(1-2): p. 93-127.
- 10. Barnes, P.J., K.F. Chung, and C.P. Page, *Inflammatory mediators and asthma*. Pharmacol Rev, 1988. **40**(1): p. 49-84.
- 11. Chung, K.F. and P.J. Barnes, *Cytokines in asthma*. Thorax, 1999. **54**(9): p. 825-57.
- 12. Raeburn, D. and S.E. Webber, *Proinflammatory potential of the airway epithelium in bronchial asthma*. Eur Respir J, 1994. **7**(12): p. 2226-33.
- 13. Holtzman, M.J., *Arachidonic acid metabolism in airway epithelial cells*. Annu Rev Physiol, 1992. **54**: p. 303-29.
- 14. Rawlins, E.L., et al., *Lung development and repair: contribution of the ciliated lineage.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(2): p. 410-7.
- 15. Stripp, B.R. and S.D. Reynolds, *Maintenance and repair of the bronchiolar epithelium*. Proc Am Thorac Soc, 2008. **5**(3): p. 328-33.
- 16. Hyde, D.M., Q. Hamid, and C.G. Irvin, *Anatomy, pathology, and physiology of the tracheobronchial tree: emphasis on the distal airways.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2009. **124**(6 Suppl): p. S72-7.
- 17. Harvey, B.G., et al., *Modification of gene expression of the small airway epithelium in response to cigarette smoking*. J Mol Med (Berl), 2007. **85**(1): p. 39-53.

- 18. Evans, M.J. and C.G. Plopper, *The role of basal cells in adhesion of columnar epithelium to airway basement membrane*. Am Rev Respir Dis, 1988. **138**(2): p. 481-3.
- 19. Boers, J.E., A.W. Ambergen, and F.B. Thunnissen, *Number and proliferation of basal and parabasal cells in normal human airway epithelium.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1998. **157**(6 Pt 1): p. 2000-6.
- 20. De Water, R., et al., Ultrastructural localization of bronchial antileukoprotease in central and peripheral human airways by a gold-labeling technique using monoclonal antibodies. Am Rev Respir Dis, 1986. **133**(5): p. 882-90.
- 21. Hong, K.U., et al., *Clara cell secretory protein-expressing cells of the airway neuroepithelial body microenvironment include a label-retaining subset and are critical for epithelial renewal after progenitor cell depletion.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2001. **24**(6): p. 671-81.
- 22. Lumsden, A.B., A. McLean, and D. Lamb, *Goblet and Clara cells of human distal airways: evidence for smoking induced changes in their numbers.* Thorax, 1984. **39**(11): p. 844-9.
- 23. Alexandrov, K., M. Rojas, and S. Satarug, *The critical DNA damage by* benzo(a)pyrene in lung tissues of smokers and approaches to preventing its formation. Toxicol Lett, 2010. **198**(1): p. 63-8.
- 24. Tritscher, A.M., et al., *Induction of lung lesions in female rats following chronic exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin*. Toxicol Pathol, 2000. **28**(6): p. 761-9.
- 25. Wong, P.S., et al., *Arylhydrocarbon receptor activation in NCI-H441 cells and C57BL/6 mice: possible mechanisms for lung dysfunction.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2010. **42**(2): p. 210-7.
- 26. White, K.E., et al., *Prostaglandin E2 mediates IL-1beta-related fibroblast mitogenic effects in acute lung injury through differential utilization of prostanoid receptors.* J Immunol, 2008. **180**(1): p. 637-46.
- 27. Janeway, C.A., Jr. and R. Medzhitov, *Introduction: the role of innate immunity in the adaptive immune response*. Semin Immunol, 1998. **10**(5): p. 349-50.
- 28. Palm, N.W. and R. Medzhitov, *Pattern recognition receptors and control of adaptive immunity*. Immunol Rev, 2009. **227**(1): p. 221-33.
- 29. Hager, M., J.B. Cowland, and N. Borregaard, *Neutrophil granules in health and disease*. J Intern Med, 2010. **268**(1): p. 25-34.
- 30. Blidberg, K., et al., *Increased Neutrophil Migration in Smokers with or without Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)*. Respirology, 2012.
- 31. Bradding, P., A.F. Walls, and S.T. Holgate, *The role of the mast cell in the pathophysiology of asthma*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2006. **117**(6): p. 1277-84.
- 32. Galli, S.J., M. Grimbaldeston, and M. Tsai, *Immunomodulatory mast cells: negative, as well as positive, regulators of immunity.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(6): p. 478-86.
- 33. Galli, S.J., et al., *Mast cells as "tunable" effector and immunoregulatory cells: recent advances.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2005. **23**: p. 749-86.
- 34. Sayed, B.A., et al., *The master switch: the role of mast cells in autoimmunity and tolerance.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2008. **26**: p. 705-39.
- 35. Marshall, J.S., *Mast-cell responses to pathogens*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2004. **4**(10): p. 787-99.
- 36. Rees, A.J., *Monocyte and macrophage biology: an overview*. Semin Nephrol, 2010. **30**(3): p. 216-33.
- 37. Trombetta, E.S. and I. Mellman, *Cell biology of antigen processing in vitro and in vivo*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2005. **23**: p. 975-1028.

- 38. Mosmann, T.R. and R.L. Coffman, *TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties.* Annu Rev Immunol, 1989. **7**: p. 145-73.
- 39. Cosio, M.G., M. Saetta, and A. Agusti, *Immunologic aspects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. N Engl J Med, 2009. **360**(23): p. 2445-54.
- 40. Saetta, M., et al., *CD8+ T-lymphocytes in peripheral airways of smokers with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1998. **157**(3 Pt 1): p. 822-6.
- 41. Urbanowicz, R.A., et al., *Enhanced effector function of cytotoxic cells in the induced sputum of COPD patients*. Respir Res, 2010. **11**: p. 76.
- 42. He, B. and D.M. Jablons, *Wnt signaling in stem cells and lung cancer*. Ernst Schering Found Symp Proc, 2006(5): p. 27-58.
- 43. Sato, M., et al., *A translational view of the molecular pathogenesis of lung cancer*. J Thorac Oncol, 2007. **2**(4): p. 327-43.
- 44. Logan, C.Y. and R. Nusse, *The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease*. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 2004. **20**: p. 781-810.
- 45. Huelsken, J. and W. Birchmeier, *New aspects of Wnt signaling pathways in higher vertebrates.* Curr Opin Genet Dev, 2001. **11**(5): p. 547-53.
- 46. Van Scoyk, M., et al., *Wnt signaling pathway and lung disease*. Transl Res, 2008. **151**(4): p. 175-80.
- 47. Miwa, N., et al., *Involvement of claudin-1 in the beta-catenin/Tcf signaling pathway and its frequent upregulation in human colorectal cancers.* Oncol Res, 2001. **12**(11-12): p. 469-76.
- 48. Wu, B., S.P. Crampton, and C.C. Hughes, *Wnt signaling induces matrix metalloproteinase expression and regulates T cell transmigration*. Immunity, 2007. **26**(2): p. 227-39.
- 49. Yano, F., et al., *The canonical Wnt signaling pathway promotes chondrocyte differentiation in a Sox9-dependent manner*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2005. **333**(4): p. 1300-8.
- 50. Day, T.F., et al., *Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in mesenchymal progenitors* controls osteoblast and chondrocyte differentiation during vertebrate skeletogenesis. Dev Cell, 2005. **8**(5): p. 739-50.
- 51. Crawford, H.C., et al., *The metalloproteinase matrilysin is a target of betacatenin transactivation in intestinal tumors.* Oncogene, 1999. **18**(18): p. 2883-91.
- 52. Zhang, X., J.P. Gaspard, and D.C. Chung, *Regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by the Wnt and K-ras pathways in colonic neoplasia.* Cancer Res, 2001. **61**(16): p. 6050-4.
- 53. Haertel-Wiesmann, M., et al., *Regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 and periostin by Wnt-3 in mouse mammary epithelial cells.* J Biol Chem, 2000. **275**(41): p. 32046-51.
- 54. Howe, L.R., et al., *Transcriptional activation of cyclooxygenase-2 in Wnt-1-transformed mouse mammary epithelial cells.* Cancer Res, 1999. **59**(7): p. 1572-7.
- 55. Xu, L., et al., *WISP-1 is a Wnt-1- and beta-catenin-responsive oncogene*. Genes Dev, 2000. **14**(5): p. 585-95.
- 56. Labbe, E., A. Letamendia, and L. Attisano, *Association of Smads with lymphoid* enhancer binding factor 1/T cell-specific factor mediates cooperative signaling by the transforming growth factor-beta and wnt pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. **97**(15): p. 8358-63.
- 57. Cheon, S.S., et al., *beta-Catenin stabilization dysregulates mesenchymal cell proliferation, motility, and invasiveness and causes aggressive fibromatosis and*

hyperplastic cutaneous wounds. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. 99(10): p. 6973-8.

- 58. Sato, M., Upregulation of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway induced by transforming growth factor-beta in hypertrophic scars and keloids. Acta Derm Venereol, 2006. **86**(4): p. 300-7.
- 59. Satterwhite, D.J. and K.L. Neufeld, *TGF-beta targets the Wnt pathway components, APC and beta-catenin, as Mv1Lu cells undergo cell cycle arrest.* Cell Cycle, 2004. **3**(8): p. 1069-73.
- 60. Cheon, S.S., et al., *Growth factors regulate beta-catenin-mediated TCFdependent transcriptional activation in fibroblasts during the proliferative phase of wound healing.* Exp Cell Res, 2004. **293**(2): p. 267-74.
- 61. Poon, R., et al., *Beta-catenin and transforming growth factor beta have distinct roles regulating fibroblast cell motility and the induction of collagen lattice contraction.* BMC Cell Biol, 2009. **10**: p. 38.
- 62. Alman, B.A., et al., *Increased beta-catenin protein and somatic APC mutations in sporadic aggressive fibromatoses (desmoid tumors)*. Am J Pathol, 1997. **151**(2): p. 329-34.
- 63. Fathke, C., et al., *Wnt signaling induces epithelial differentiation during cutaneous wound healing.* BMC Cell Biol, 2006. 7: p. 4.
- 64. Selman, M., T.E. King, and A. Pardo, *Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: prevailing and evolving hypotheses about its pathogenesis and implications for therapy*. Ann Intern Med, 2001. **134**(2): p. 136-51.
- 65. Horowitz, J.C. and V.J. Thannickal, *Epithelial-mesenchymal interactions in pulmonary fibrosis*. Semin Respir Crit Care Med, 2006. **27**(6): p. 600-12.
- 66. Wang, R., et al., *Down-regulation of the canonical Wnt beta-catenin pathway in the airway epithelium of healthy smokers and smokers with COPD.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(4): p. e14793.
- 67. Kneidinger, N., et al., *Activation of the WNT/beta-catenin pathway attenuates experimental emphysema*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2011. **183**(6): p. 723-33.
- 68. Boyce, J.A., *Mast cells and eicosanoid mediators: a system of reciprocal paracrine and autocrine regulation.* Immunol Rev, 2007. **217**: p. 168-85.
- 69. Knight, D.A., et al., *Epithelium-derived inhibitory prostaglandins modulate human bronchial smooth muscle responses to histamine*. Eur J Pharmacol, 1995. **272**(1): p. 1-11.
- 70. Knight, D.A., G.A. Stewart, and P.J. Thompson, *Prostaglandin E2, but not prostacyclin inhibits histamine-induced contraction of human bronchial smooth muscle.* Eur J Pharmacol, 1995. **272**(1): p. 13-9.
- 71. Pavord, I.D. and A.E. Tattersfield, *Bronchoprotective role for endogenous prostaglandin E2*. Lancet, 1995. **345**(8947): p. 436-8.
- 72. Matsumoto, K., et al., *Cultured epithelial cells release cyclooxygenasedependent and cyclooxygenase-independent factors that inhibit cholinergic contraction of canine airway smooth muscles.* Respiration, 1996. **63**(4): p. 205-12.
- 73. Kalinski, P., et al., *IL-12-deficient dendritic cells, generated in the presence of prostaglandin E2, promote type 2 cytokine production in maturing human naive T helper cells.* J Immunol, 1997. **159**(1): p. 28-35.
- 74. De Marzo, N., et al., *Cloning and expression of an airway epithelial 12lipoxygenase.* Am J Physiol, 1992. **262**(2 Pt 1): p. L198-207.
- 75. Sigal, E., et al., *Cloning of human airway 15-lipoxygenase: identity to the reticulocyte enzyme and expression in epithelium.* Am J Physiol, 1992. **262**(4 Pt 1): p. L392-8.
- 76. Kowalski, M.L., et al., *Differential metabolism of arachidonic acid in nasal polyp epithelial cells cultured from aspirin-sensitive and aspirin-tolerant patients*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2000. **161**(2 Pt 1): p. 391-8.
- 77. Bartel, D.P., *MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function.* Cell, 2004. **116**(2): p. 281-97.
- 78. Winter, J., et al., *Many roads to maturity: microRNA biogenesis pathways and their regulation*. Nat Cell Biol, 2009. **11**(3): p. 228-34.
- Lai, E.C., *microRNAs: runts of the genome assert themselves*. Curr Biol, 2003.
 13(23): p. R925-36.
- 80. Vasudevan, S., *Posttranscriptional Upregulation by MicroRNAs*. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA, 2011.
- 81. Chiba, Y. and M. Misawa, *MicroRNAs and their therapeutic potential for human diseases: MiR-133a and bronchial smooth muscle hyperresponsiveness in asthma.* J Pharmacol Sci, 2010. **114**(3): p. 264-8.
- 82. Croce, C.M., *Causes and consequences of microRNA dysregulation in cancer*. Nat Rev Genet, 2009. **10**(10): p. 704-14.
- 83. Liu, G., et al., *miR-21 mediates fibrogenic activation of pulmonary fibroblasts and lung fibrosis.* J Exp Med, 2010. **207**(8): p. 1589-97.
- 84. Ezzie, M.E., et al., *Gene expression networks in COPD: microRNA and mRNA regulation.* Thorax, 2012. **67**(2): p. 122-31.
- 85. Yang, J.S., et al., *Widespread regulatory activity of vertebrate microRNA* species*. RNA, 2011. **17**(2): p. 312-26.
- 86. Guo, L. and Z. Lu, *The fate of miRNA* strand through evolutionary analysis: implication for degradation as merely carrier strand or potential regulatory molecule?* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(6): p. e11387.
- 87. Bhatnagar, S., et al., *Exosomes released from macrophages infected with intracellular pathogens stimulate a proinflammatory response in vitro and in vivo*. Blood, 2007. **110**(9): p. 3234-44.
- 88. van Niel, G., et al., *Intestinal epithelial cells secrete exosome-like vesicles*. Gastroenterology, 2001. **121**(2): p. 337-49.
- 89. Raposo, G., et al., *Accumulation of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules in mast cell secretory granules and their release upon degranulation.* Mol Biol Cell, 1997. **8**(12): p. 2631-45.
- 90. Raposo, G., et al., *B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles*. J Exp Med, 1996. **183**(3): p. 1161-72.
- 91. Thery, C., et al., *Molecular characterization of dendritic cell-derived exosomes*. *Selective accumulation of the heat shock protein hsc73.* J Cell Biol, 1999. **147**(3): p. 599-610.
- 92. Blanchard, N., et al., *TCR activation of human T cells induces the production of exosomes bearing the TCR/CD3/zeta complex.* J Immunol, 2002. **168**(7): p. 3235-41.
- 93. Ghidoni, R., et al., *Cystatin C is released in association with exosomes: A new tool of neuronal communication which is unbalanced in Alzheimer's disease.* Neurobiol Aging, 2009.
- 94. Nguyen, D.G., et al., *Evidence that HIV budding in primary macrophages* occurs through the exosome release pathway. J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(52): p. 52347-54.
- 95. Zhang, H., et al., *CD4*(+) *T cell-released exosomes inhibit CD8*(+) *cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses and antitumor immunity.* Cell Mol Immunol, 2011. **8**(1): p. 23-30.

- 96. Esser, J., et al., *Exosomes from human macrophages and dendritic cells contain enzymes for leukotriene biosynthesis and promote granulocyte migration*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2010. **126**(5): p. 1032-40, 1040 e1-4.
- 97. Thery, C., L. Zitvogel, and S. Amigorena, *Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2002. **2**(8): p. 569-79.
- 98. Mittelbrunn, M., et al., *Unidirectional transfer of microRNA-loaded exosomes from T cells to antigen-presenting cells*. Nat Commun, 2011. **2**: p. 282.
- 99. Valadi, H., et al., *Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells.* Nat Cell Biol, 2007. **9**(6): p. 654-9.
- 100. Michael, A., et al., *Exosomes from human saliva as a source of microRNA biomarkers*. Oral Dis, 2010. **16**(1): p. 34-8.
- Pisitkun, T., R.F. Shen, and M.A. Knepper, *Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. 101(36): p. 13368-73.
- 102. Lasser, C., et al., *RNA-containing exosomes in human nasal secretions*. Am J Rhinol Allergy, 2011. **25**(2): p. 89-93.
- 103. Admyre, C., et al., *Exosomes with immune modulatory features are present in human breast milk*. J Immunol, 2007. **179**(3): p. 1969-78.
- 104. Caby, M.P., et al., *Exosomal-like vesicles are present in human blood plasma*. Int Immunol, 2005. **17**(7): p. 879-87.
- 105. Lasser, C., et al., *Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages.* J Transl Med, 2011. **9**: p. 9.
- 106. Michael, A., et al., *Exosomes from human saliva as a source of microRNA biomarkers*. Oral Dis, 2009.
- 107. Qazi, K.R., et al., *Proinflammatory exosomes in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid* of patients with sarcoidosis. Thorax, 2010. **65**(11): p. 1016-24.
- 108. Admyre, C., et al., *Exosomes nanovesicles with possible roles in allergic inflammation*. Allergy, 2008. **63**(4): p. 404-8.
- Almqvist, N., et al., Serum-derived exosomes from antigen-fed mice prevent allergic sensitization in a model of allergic asthma. Immunology, 2008. 125(1): p. 21-7.
- 110. Chairoungdua, A., et al., *Exosome release of beta-catenin: a novel mechanism that antagonizes Wnt signaling.* J Cell Biol, 2010. **190**(6): p. 1079-91.
- 111. Valeyre, D., et al., Smoking and pulmonary sarcoidosis: effect of cigarette smoking on prevalence, clinical manifestations, alveolitis, and evolution of the disease. Thorax, 1988. **43**(7): p. 516-24.
- 112. Saltini, C., et al., Spontaneous release of interleukin 2 by lung T lymphocytes in active pulmonary sarcoidosis is primarily from the Leu3+DR+ T cell subset. J Clin Invest, 1986. **77**(6): p. 1962-70.
- 113. Baumer, I., et al., *Th1/Th2 cell distribution in pulmonary sarcoidosis*. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 1997. **16**(2): p. 171-7.
- 114. Vasakova, M., et al., *Cytokine gene polymorphisms and BALF cytokine levels in interstitial lung diseases.* Respir Med, 2009. **103**(5): p. 773-9.
- 115. Wijnen, P.A., et al., *Butyrophilin-like 2 in pulmonary sarcoidosis: a factor for susceptibility and progression?* Hum Immunol, 2011. **72**(4): p. 342-7.
- 116. Grunewald, J., *Review: role of genetics in susceptibility and outcome of sarcoidosis.* Semin Respir Crit Care Med, 2010. **31**(4): p. 380-9.
- 117. Jonth, A.C., et al., *TGF-beta 1 variants in chronic beryllium disease and sarcoidosis.* J Immunol, 2007. **179**(6): p. 4255-62.
- 118. Grunewald, J. and A. Eklund, *Sex-specific manifestations of Lofgren's syndrome*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2007. **175**(1): p. 40-4.

- 119. Crouser, E.D., et al., *Differential expression of microRNA and predicted targets in pulmonary sarcoidosis*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2012. **417**(2): p. 886-91.
- 120. Global Burden of Asthma.
- 121. Berend, N., C.M. Salome, and G.G. King, *Mechanisms of airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma*. Respirology, 2008. **13**(5): p. 624-31.
- 122. Barrett, N.A. and K.F. Austen, *Innate cells and T helper 2 cell immunity in airway inflammation*. Immunity, 2009. **31**(3): p. 425-37.
- 123. Lee, H., et al., *WNT/beta-catenin pathway is modulated in asthma patients and LPS-stimulated RAW264.7 macrophage cell line*. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol, 2012. **34**(1): p. 56-65.
- 124. Barnes, P.J., *Mediators of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. Pharmacol Rev, 2004. **56**(4): p. 515-48.
- 125. Definition and classification of chronic bronchitis for clinical and epidemiological purposes. A report to the Medical Research Council by their Committee on the Aetiology of Chronic Bronchitis. Lancet, 1965. 1(7389): p. 775-9.
- 126. Hogg, J.C., et al., *The nature of small-airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. N Engl J Med, 2004. **350**(26): p. 2645-53.
- 127. Wilkinson, T.M., et al., *Respiratory syncytial virus, airway inflammation, and FEV1 decline in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2006. **173**(8): p. 871-6.
- Donaldson, G.C., et al., *Relationship between exacerbation frequency and lung function decline in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. Thorax, 2002. 57(10): p. 847-52.
- 129. Tam, A., et al., *The airway epithelium: more than just a structural barrier*. Ther Adv Respir Dis, 2011. **5**(4): p. 255-73.
- 130. Cazzola, M., et al., *Emerging anti-inflammatory strategies for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. Eur Respir J, 2012.
- 131. Danahay, H. and A.D. Jackson, *Epithelial mucus-hypersecretion and respiratory disease*. Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy, 2005. **4**(6): p. 651-64.
- 132. Pauwels, R.A., et al., *Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLBI/WHO Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) Workshop summary.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2001. **163**(5): p. 1256-76.
- Hanania, N.A., et al., *Bronchodilator reversibility in COPD*. Chest, 2011.
 140(4): p. 1055-63.
- 134. Yazdanbakhsh, M., P.G. Kremsner, and R. van Ree, *Allergy, parasites, and the hygiene hypothesis.* Science, 2002. **296**(5567): p. 490-4.
- 135. Sheffield, P.E., K.R. Weinberger, and P.L. Kinney, *Climate change, aeroallergens, and pediatric allergic disease.* Mt Sinai J Med, 2011. **78**(1): p. 78-84.
- 136. McCreanor, J., et al., *Respiratory effects of exposure to diesel traffic in persons with asthma.* N Engl J Med, 2007. **357**(23): p. 2348-58.
- Gehring, U., et al., *Traffic-related air pollution and the development of asthma and allergies during the first 8 years of life.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2010. 181(6): p. 596-603.
- 138. Andersen, Z.J., et al., *Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and long-term exposure to traffic-related air pollution: a cohort study.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2011. **183**(4): p. 455-61.
- 139. Andersen, Z.J., et al., Long-term exposure to air pollution and asthma hospitalisations in older adults: a cohort study. Thorax, 2012. 67(1): p. 6-11.

- 140. Larsson, B.M., et al., *Road tunnel air pollution induces bronchoalveolar inflammation in healthy subjects.* Eur Respir J, 2007. **29**(4): p. 699-705.
- 141. Seaton, A., et al., *The London Underground: dust and hazards to health.* Occup Environ Med, 2005. **62**(6): p. 355-62.
- Bigert, C., et al., No short-term respiratory effects among particle-exposed employees in the Stockholm subway. Scand J Work Environ Health, 2011. 37(2): p. 129-35.
- 143. Klepczynska Nystrom, A., et al., *Health effects of a subway environment in healthy volunteers*. Eur Respir J, 2010. **36**(2): p. 240-8.
- 144. Klepczynska-Nystrom, A., et al., *Health effects of a subway environment in mild asthmatic volunteers*. Respir Med, 2012. **106**(1): p. 25-33.
- 145. Stedman, R.L., *The chemical composition of tobacco and tobacco smoke*. Chem Rev, 1968. **68**(2): p. 153-207.
- 146. Harris, W.J., *Size distribution of tobacco smoke droplets by a replica method.* Nature, 1960. **186**: p. 537-8.
- 147. Arnson, Y., Y. Shoenfeld, and H. Amital, *Effects of tobacco smoke on immunity, inflammation and autoimmunity.* J Autoimmun, 2010. **34**(3): p. J258-65.
- 148. Maier, L.A., *Is smoking beneficial for granulomatous lung diseases?* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2004. **169**(8): p. 893-5.
- 149. Sandberg, A., et al., Assessing recent smoking status by measuring exhaled carbon monoxide levels. PLoS One, 2011. 6(12): p. e28864.
- 150. Schildge, J., C. Nagel, and C. Grun, *Bronchoalveolar lavage in interstitial lung diseases: does the recovery rate affect the results?* Respiration, 2007. **74**(5): p. 553-7.
- 151. Stocks, J. and P.H. Quanjer, Reference values for residual volume, functional residual capacity and total lung capacity. ATS Workshop on Lung Volume Measurements. Official Statement of The European Respiratory Society. Eur Respir J, 1995. 8(3): p. 492-506.
- 152. Lamparski, H.G., et al., *Production and characterization of clinical grade exosomes derived from dendritic cells.* J Immunol Methods, 2002. **270**(2): p. 211-26.
- 153. Escola, J.M., et al., Selective enrichment of tetraspan proteins on the internal vesicles of multivesicular endosomes and on exosomes secreted by human B-lymphocytes. J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(32): p. 20121-7.
- 154. Gehrmann, U., et al., *Nanovesicles from Malassezia sympodialis and host exosomes induce cytokine responses--novel mechanisms for host-microbe interactions in atopic eczema.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(7): p. e21480.
- 155. Garner, M.M. and A. Revzin, A gel electrophoresis method for quantifying the binding of proteins to specific DNA regions: application to components of the Escherichia coli lactose operon regulatory system. Nucleic Acids Res, 1981. 9(13): p. 3047-60.
- 156. Wang, H., R.A. Ach, and B. Curry, *Direct and sensitive miRNA profiling from low-input total RNA*. RNA, 2007. **13**(1): p. 151-9.
- 157. SantaLucia, J., Jr., H.T. Allawi, and P.A. Seneviratne, *Improved nearest-neighbor parameters for predicting DNA duplex stability*. Biochemistry, 1996. **35**(11): p. 3555-62.
- Kriegova, E., et al., *PSMB2 and RPL32 are suitable denominators to normalize gene expression profiles in bronchoalveolar cells.* BMC Mol Biol, 2008. 9: p. 69.

- 159. Moltzahn, F., et al., *Microfluidic-based multiplex qRT-PCR identifies diagnostic and prognostic microRNA signatures in the sera of prostate cancer patients.* Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(2): p. 550-60.
- 160. Mestdagh, P., et al., A novel and universal method for microRNA RT-qPCR data normalization. Genome Biol, 2009. **10**(6): p. R64.
- 161. Hochberg, Y. and Y. Benjamini, *More powerful procedures for multiple significance testing*. Stat Med, 1990. **9**(7): p. 811-8.
- 162. Bylesjo, M., et al., Orthogonal projections to latent structures as a strategy for microarray data normalization. BMC Bioinformatics, 2007. 8: p. 207.
- 163. L. Eriksson, E.J., N. Kettaneh-Wold, J. Trygg, C. Wikström, and S. Wold, *Multi* - and Megavariate Data analysis: Part 1 Basic Principles and Applications. 2nd ed. 2006: Umetrics.
- 164. Trygg, J. and S. Wold, *Orthogonal Projections to Latent Structures (OPLS)*. Journal of Chemometrics, 2002. **16**(3): p. 119-128.
- 165. Umetrics. Available from: http://www.umetrics.com/.
- 166. Wiklund, S., et al., Visualization of GC/TOF-MS-based metabolomics data for identification of biochemically interesting compounds using OPLS class models. Anal Chem, 2008. **80**(1): p. 115-22.
- 167. Chilosi, M., et al., *Aberrant Wnt/beta-catenin pathway activation in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis.* Am J Pathol, 2003. **162**(5): p. 1495-502.
- 168. Lee, M.H., et al., JNK phosphorylates {beta}-catenin and regulates adherens junctions. Faseb J, 2009.
- 169. Pongracz, J.E. and R.A. Stockley, *Wnt signalling in lung development and diseases*. Respir Res, 2006. 7: p. 15.
- 170. Weidenfeld, J., et al., *The WNT7b promoter is regulated by TTF-1, GATA6, and Foxa2 in lung epithelium.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(23): p. 21061-70.
- 171. Monkley, S.J., et al., *Targeted disruption of the Wnt2 gene results in placentation defects.* Development, 1996. **122**(11): p. 3343-53.
- 172. Vuga, L.J., et al., *WNT5A is a Regulator of Fibroblast Proliferation and Resistance to Apoptosis.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2009.
- 173. Lako, M., et al., *Isolation, characterisation and embryonic expression of WNT11, a gene which maps to 11q13.5 and has possible roles in the development of skeleton, kidney and lung.* Gene, 1998. **219**(1-2): p. 101-10.
- 174. Winn, R.A., et al., *Restoration of Wnt-7a expression reverses non-small cell lung cancer cellular transformation through frizzled-9-mediated growth inhibition and promotion of cell differentiation.* J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(20): p. 19625-34.
- 175. Konigshoff, M., et al., *Functional Wnt signaling is increased in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis.* PLoS One, 2008. **3**(5): p. e2142.
- 176. Lemjabbar-Alaoui, H., et al., *Wnt and Hedgehog are critical mediators of cigarette smoke-induced lung cancer*. PLoS One, 2006. **1**: p. e93.
- 177. Syed, F., et al., *Identification of interleukin-13 related biomarkers using peripheral blood mononuclear cells*. Biomarkers, 2007. **12**(4): p. 414-23.
- 178. Cohen, E.D., et al., *Wnt signaling regulates smooth muscle precursor development in the mouse lung via a tenascin C/PDGFR pathway*. J Clin Invest, 2009. **119**(9): p. 2538-49.
- 179. Henderson, W.R., Jr., et al., *Inhibition of Wnt/beta-catenin/CREB binding* protein (CBP) signaling reverses pulmonary fibrosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(32): p. 14309-14.
- 180. Sohal, S.S., et al., *Evaluation of epithelial mesenchymal transition in patients* with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Res, 2011. **12**: p. 130.

- Hackett, T.L., Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in the pathophysiology of airway remodelling in asthma. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol, 2012. 12(1): p. 53-9.
- 182. Shu, W., et al., *Wnt7b regulates mesenchymal proliferation and vascular development in the lung.* Development, 2002. **129**(20): p. 4831-42.
- 183. Li, C., et al., *Wnt5a participates in distal lung morphogenesis*. Dev Biol, 2002.
 248(1): p. 68-81.
- 184. Finlay, G.A., et al., Elevated levels of matrix metalloproteinases in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of emphysematous patients. Thorax, 1997. 52(6): p. 502-6.
- 185. Grumelli, S., et al., An immune basis for lung parenchymal destruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and emphysema. PLoS Med, 2004. **1**(1): p. e8.
- Henry, M.T., et al., Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 in sarcoidosis and IPF. Eur Respir J, 2002. 20(5): p. 1220-7.
- 187. Kelly, E.A. and N.N. Jarjour, *Role of matrix metalloproteinases in asthma*. Curr Opin Pulm Med, 2003. **9**(1): p. 28-33.
- 188. O'Connor, C., et al., *Collagenase and fibronectin in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in patients with sarcoidosis.* Thorax, 1988. **43**(5): p. 393-400.
- Ohnishi, K., et al., Matrix metalloproteinase-mediated extracellular matrix protein degradation in human pulmonary emphysema. Lab Invest, 1998. 78(9): p. 1077-87.
- Russell, R.E., et al., *Release and activity of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 by alveolar macrophages from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2002. 26(5): p. 602-9.
- 191. Ward, K., et al., Pulmonary disease progress in sarcoid patients with and without bronchoalveolar lavage collagenase. Am Rev Respir Dis, 1990. 142(3): p. 636-41.
- 192. Chung, K.F., Evaluation of selective prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) receptor agonists as therapeutic agents for the treatment of asthma. Sci STKE, 2005. 2005(303): p. pe47.
- 193. Benayoun, L., et al., *Regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor* gamma expression in human asthmatic airways: relationship with proliferation, apoptosis, and airway remodeling. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2001. **164**(8 Pt 1): p. 1487-94.
- 194. Denning, G.M. and L.L. Stoll, *Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: potential therapeutic targets in lung disease?* Pediatr Pulmonol, 2006. **41**(1): p. 23-34.
- 195. Spears, M., et al., Bronchodilatory effect of the PPAR-gamma agonist rosiglitazone in smokers with asthma. Clin Pharmacol Ther, 2009. **86**(1): p. 49-53.
- 196. Altmann, R., et al., *13-Oxo-ODE is an endogenous ligand for PPARgamma in human colonic epithelial cells*. Biochem Pharmacol, 2007. **74**(4): p. 612-22.
- 197. Tian, T., et al., *Visualizing of the cellular uptake and intracellular trafficking of exosomes by live-cell microscopy*. J Cell Biochem, 2010. **111**(2): p. 488-96.
- 198. Feng, D., et al., *Cellular internalization of exosomes occurs through phagocytosis.* Traffic, 2010. **11**(5): p. 675-87.
- 199. Segura, E., et al., *CD8+ dendritic cells use LFA-1 to capture MHC-peptide complexes from exosomes in vivo.* J Immunol, 2007. **179**(3): p. 1489-96.

- 200. Nolte-'t Hoen, E.N., et al., Activated T cells recruit exosomes secreted by dendritic cells via LFA-1. Blood, 2009. **113**(9): p. 1977-81.
- 201. Pottelberge, G.R., et al., *MicroRNA expression in induced sputum of smokers and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2011. **183**(7): p. 898-906.
- Zuo, F., et al., Gene expression analysis reveals matrilysin as a key regulator of pulmonary fibrosis in mice and humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002.
 99(9): p. 6292-7.
- 203. Pardo, A., et al., *Up-regulation and profibrotic role of osteopontin in human idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis.* PLoS Med, 2005. **2**(9): p. e251.